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During the course of the year, the following were lost  
to the racing industry and the VRC, and we extend our 
condolences to their families.

Esteemed former Chairman, Mr PCT Armytage AM

Mr William (Bill) Stutt Mr Ned Wallish 
Mr Jack Denham Mr George Hanlon 
Mr Les Short Mrs Jacquie Little 
Mr Kevin Blackmore Mr Bart Godwin

Mission
Through our people we will:
•  Continually develop as a world class racing  

and entertainment venue all year round
•  Focus on the continued growth and success  

of the Melbourne Cup Carnival
•  Provide the highest quality service, facilities and value  

for our Members, customers, partners and the community
•  Balance our commitment to environmental sustainability 

and the local community with our operations
•  Maximise financial returns from our racing and events 

for the benefit of the Club, its Members, the racing 
industry and partners.

Values
Integrity: Acting with integrity in all that we do

Innovation: Encouraging and embracing innovation  
to achieve continuous improvement

Excellence: Setting the highest standards in service and 
value for our Members, customers and business partners

Collaboration: Valuing and respecting the commitment 
and contribution of all of our people and expecting 
collaboration across our teams

Safety and Sustainability: Providing a safe and 
environmentally friendly workplace, and venue  
for our people, customers and industry participants

Our vision is to maintain  
Flemington as a world  
leader in thoroughbred  
racing, event management  
and entertainment 
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 AAMI 
 Victoria 
 Derby Day

The opening day of the 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival 

attracted 108,178 spectators, who flocked to Flemington 

to witness the Michael Moroney trained Monaco Consul 
win the AAMI Victoria Derby. Another important victor 

on the day was Shocking – winning the Group 3 Lexus 

Stakes and earning a last minute place in the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup field.

Main: Monaco Consul holds off Extra Zero 
to win the 2009 AAMI Victoria Derby.

Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2010

1



 Emirates
 Melbourne 
 Cup Day

Bart Cummings had three runners in the Emirates
Melbourne Cup, but was denied his thirteenth victory
by Mark Kavanagh’s Shocking. Ridden by Corey Brown, 
the win was both Kavanagh and Brown’s first Cup triumph. 
The win was especially sweet for Brown who rode Bauer 
to a close second in the 2008 Emirates Melbourne Cup.

Above and main: Corey Brown steers Shocking to victory 
in the 2009 Emirates Melbourne Cup over international 
raider Crime Scene (in royal blue).
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 Crown 
 Oaks Day

Crown Oaks Day was all about Bart Cummings. 

Faint Perfume’s win in the Crown Oaks gave 

Bart a record-equalling ninth VRC Oaks success 

and she became the then 81-year-old Bart’s 81st 

Group 1 winner at Flemington.

Main: Faint Perfume races past Valdemoro to win
the 2009 Crown Oaks.
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 Emirates 
 Stakes Day

On Emirates Stakes Day, 78,478 eager racegoers 
enjoyed the unusually warm weather, while 
Corey Brown capped a phenomenal Carnival 
by taking out the Emirates Stakes aboard the 
David Hayes trained All American. Brown was 
also victorious in the 2009 AAMI Victoria Derby 
and Emirates Melbourne Cup.

Main: David Hayes trained All American captures the 
2009 Emirates Stakes in near record time of 1-33.98.
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On behalf of the Victoria Racing Club Board, I am pleased 

to report to Members on the operations of the Club for 

the 2009/10 season. 

Prior to the commencement of the year, with the oversight 

of the Board’s Audit sub-committee, management prepared 

a detailed strategy and related budget to ensure that the 

Club would be positioned to cope with the anticipated 

impact of the continuing Global Financial Crisis. Of greatest 

concern was the possible reduction in corporate hospitality 

expenditure and a decline in attendances during the 2009 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. The Club was also mindful that 

Membership renewals might be adversely impacted 

by a continuance of the general economic uncertainty. 

History records that the Carnival attracted the sixth-highest 

attendance on record, that corporate hospitality, whilst 

down on the previous year, was still at a level that surpassed 

other major events and that the retention rate of our 

Membership remained at a most satisfying 96.4%. 

As a result, I am pleased to report to Members that the 

Club generated a profit of $4.3 million on its operations 

for the year. Also, through strong operating cash flows, 

the Club was able to reduce it borrowings by $7.5 million 

to $16 million. At year end, the Club had unused borrowing 

facilities of $17.5 million and is in a strong financial position 

to commence the next phase of its Masterplan initiatives.

Management, led by our Chief Executive, Dale Monteith, 

can take great credit for their proactive response to 

the considerable financial challenges that confronted 

the Club during the year.

The 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival was a resounding success 

despite temperatures on AAMI Victoria Derby and Emirates 

Stakes Days exceeding 32 degrees. Incidents of inappropriate 

behaviour were minimal, underscoring the success of the 

Club’s zero tolerance policy in regard to those who do not 

respect the rights of others to enjoy the Carnival, whether 

in the Members’ Enclosures or public areas.

The reprogramming of races over the four days in recent 

years has now provided us with the opportunity to grow 

attendances on Emirates Stakes Day. With five Group races, 

including two at Group 1, Emirates Stakes Day is now 

positioned as the third-best day’s racing on the Victoria 

Racing Club’s annual calendar behind AAMI Victoria Derby 

Day and Super Saturday in the autumn.

Chairman’s
Report

The 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival 
was a resounding success despite 
temperatures on AAMI Victoria Derby 
and Emirates Stakes Days exceeding 
32 degrees

Rodney M Fitzroy, Chairman
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Chairman’s Report ›

I would like to extend the Club’s congratulations 

to Flemington-based trainer, Mark Kavanagh, for the 

stunning victory of Shocking in the Emirates Melbourne 

Cup. Mark’s story is one of a gifted horseman who, through 

hard work, has risen through the ranks of his profession to 

reach the pinnacle of Australian racing and have his name 

forever listed as the trainer of a Melbourne Cup winner.

During the year, a Board sub-committee chaired by 

Mr Tim Poole was formed to develop a new vision for the 

future of Flemington. The Board has now endorsed a draft 

strategy document – ‘FLEMINGTON 2025 MASTERPLAN’. 

The Club has considerable underutilised assets and it is 

proposed that, by leveraging these assets, we will, over 

the 15-year term of the new Masterplan, continue the 

transformation of Flemington and in so doing maintain 

its position as one of the leading racecourses in the world. 

A number of opportunities have been identified for 

inclusion within the new Masterplan and they are currently 

being evaluated by the sub-committee. Members will 

be fully informed when the scope of the new Masterplan 

has been determined.

The first project that we are likely to see under the 

umbrella of the Masterplan is the relocation of the 

Flemington Tabaret from its current location at the rear 

of the Hill Stand to a prominent location to the south 

of the roundabout at the intersection of Ascot Vale, Epsom 

and Racecourse Roads. We consider the new facility will 

become a welcomed community asset, a feature of which 

will be a family friendly dining environment overlooking

the Flemington stables and racecourse.

In accordance with the recommendation contained 

within the Lindsay Maxsted report on the structure of 

metropolitan racing, the VRC met with representatives 

of the Moonee Valley Racing Club during the course of the 

year. Those discussions have led to there being a broader 

review involving all three metropolitan clubs and Racing 

Victoria Limited. The VRC welcomes the opportunity to 

explore a number of important issues that will help 

to shape the future of racing in Melbourne over the 

decades to come.

In February at Flemington, in the presence of the Deputy 

Premier and Lord Mayor of Melbourne, the Club launched 

a Calendar of Events to appropriately recognise the 

importance of the 150th running of ‘The Race That Stops 

a Nation’ – the Emirates Melbourne Cup. The launch 

established the standard that all celebrations and events 

in recognition of this milestone would need to match. 

We were honoured that on this occasion we had the 

company of Dermot Weld and Michael Kinane from 

Ireland, Yasunari Iwata and Katsuhiko Sumii from 

Japan, John Meagher from Singapore and Glen Boss, 

Damien Oliver, Michael Rodd, Steven King, Pat Hyland 

and Lloyd Williams as locals who have each achieved 

success in the Cup. That our international guests would 

come so far for this special occasion underscores the 

high regard which the Emirates Melbourne Cup now 

enjoys internationally.

At the launch, the 2010 Emirates Melbourne Cup trophy 

was ceremonially presented to the Victoria Racing Club 

by Mr Mark de Mestre, grandson of the owner/trainer 

of the first Cup winner, Archer. Reflecting an earlier 

decision of the VRC Board, the Cup has been handcrafted 

to the same specifications as those used in the making 

of the 1930 Cup won by Phar Lap. This returns the Cup 

trophy to the high point of design development achieved 

by the very first maker, James Steeth.

We were also indebted to Mr Les Carlyon, who scripted 

and hosted a short DVD presentation which encapsulated 

what the Melbourne Cup stands for in terms of the social 

and sporting history of the nation. This presentation has 

now been shown to many private audiences around the 

world and has been met with overwhelming acclaim on 

every occasion.

At the Asian Racing Conference in March, the Victoria 

Racing Club and Australian Jockey Club hosted a function 

for visiting delegates to mark the 100th year of their joint 

proprietorship of the Australian Stud Book. The Australian 

Stud Book is highly respected internationally and continues 

to provide an innovative and efficient service to the 

Australian Breeding Industry. 

In June, all at the VRC were saddened to hear of the passing 

of a great Australian and former Chairman of the Club, 

Mr Peter Armytage AM.

Peter, from Dunkeld in the Western District, joined the VRC 

Committee in 1978, was elected to Vice-Chairman in 1982 

and served as the Chairman from 1986 until 1991. He was, 

throughout his involvement in racing, a passionate 

advocate in support of the industry and there is no greater 

example of his commitment than his preparedness to 

pledge personal assets at a crucial time in negotiations 

to ensure that the racing industry was able to purchase 

Radio 3UZ, assuring the future of race broadcasts, 

which were so vital to wagering turnover.

Prior to his passing, and recognising his distinguished war 

record, the VRC determined that the Flt Lt Peter Armytage 

Handicap would be run on ANZAC Day each year.

From a broader industry perspective, there remain 

unresolved issues at both a state and national level 

which have the capacity to impact on the future prosperity 

of racing for decades to come. At a state level, it is the 

awarding of a new licence to the exclusive parimutuel 

(tote) operator which is to take effect from 2012.

Whilst we understand the industry will be in a ‘no less 

favourable’ situation in the first year of the new licence, 

we are concerned that if the turnover and profitability 

of the new licensee is impacted by changes in the broader 

wagering landscape, such as corporate betting terminals 

to be located in offcourse locations around the state, 

or the continuance of corporate bookmakers offering 

‘best tote’ on an increasing range of bet types, the industry 

will receive declining revenues from the licensee and will 

accordingly be disadvantaged.
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The VRC believes it is time for 
the Australian Racing Industry 
to consider a federal taxing model 
aligned to the principles of the GST

On a national front, the ongoing litigation between 

state racing regulatory bodies and some corporate 

bookmakers is of concern, as there is currently no certainty 

as to the basis on which the racing industry, through 

its state controlling bodies, may determine the price 

that it charges for the provision of the industry’s racing 

product. There continue to be many arguments about 

the advantages and disadvantages of the low-margin 

corporate bookmaking model. We continue to be alarmed 

with the current parlous state of funding for the racing 

industry in the United Kingdom and also in Ireland which 

is, in part at least, attributable to corporate bookmakers 

continually seeking to lower their overheads by finding 

means to pay less in levies to the racing industry. 

The VRC believes it is time for the Australian Racing 

Industry to consider a federal taxing model aligned 

to the principles of the GST; that is, a fixed rate of tax for 

all who use the industry’s product, to be collected by the 

federal government and distributed without deduction 

to the state racing bodies, proportionate to the turnover 

generated on the racing product supplied by each state 

and territory.

The racing industry is too important on a national basis 

for the federal government not to ensure its long-term 

viability and its capacity to continue as a major employer 

in metropolitan, regional and rural Australia.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to acknowledge 

and thank our Chief Executive, Dale Monteith, and each 

and every member of the VRC staff for their contribution 

to the success of the Club. Each, in their own way, plays 

an important part in the VRC continuing to be regarded 

as one of the leading racing clubs in the world.

At the conclusion of the season, Peter Young retired as 

Chairman of the Melbourne Racing Club (MRC). I would like 

to acknowledge the selfless service given by Peter to both 

his Club and the industry during his 21 years as a Member 

of the MRC Committee.

The VRC is fortunate to have the continued support 

of many of Australia’s leading corporations through 

partnerships, which enable us to offer world-competitive 

prizemoney at Flemington. From our Principal Partner 

and long-term loyal supporter of the Club, Emirates Airline, 

to those who have only joined in partnership with us this 

season, we are indebted to them all for their collective 

commitment to the Victoria Racing Club.

It would not be possible for the Club to operate at current 

standards without the assistance of many individuals 

and organisations, and I would like to take this opportunity 

to formally place on record my appreciation and thanks to:

•  The State Government and the Office of the Premier, 

the Hon John Brumby MP

•  The Deputy Premier and Minister for Racing, 

the Hon Rob Hulls MP

• Racing Victoria Limited

•  Sister metropolitan clubs, the Melbourne Racing 

Club and Moonee Valley Racing Club

•  Country Racing Victoria Ltd – and all country 

racing clubs

•  Our joint proprietor of the Australian Stud Book, 

the Australian Jockey Club Limited

•  The industry’s joint venture partner, 

Tabcorp Holdings Limited

•  ThoroughVisioN (TVN) 

• Australian Racing Board

• City of Melbourne.

Finally, to each and every Member of the Victoria Racing 

Club – thank you for your continued loyalty and support. 

Rodney M Fitzroy
Chairman

Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2010

7



Board 
of Directors

Rod Fitzroy
Fellow Real Estate 

Institute (FREI) 

Associate Australian 

Property Institute (AAPI) 

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 1993

Business interests
Deputy Chairman Epworth 

Medical Foundation Board 

of Trustees

Director Epworth 

Medical Foundation 

Board of Management

Consultant, Fitzroys

Current racing interests
Currently an interest 

in five horses

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Travel

Sydney Swans

Michael Burn
Bachelor of Commerce 

Melbourne University

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 2003

Business interests
Executive Director – 

Macquarie Capital 

Advisers – Macquarie 

Group Limited

Loreto Mandeville Hall 

– Member of School 

Council and Chairman 

of Finance Committee

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Snow skiing

Peter Fekete
Fellow of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants 

Australia (FCA)

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2000

Business interests
Company Director 

Former partner of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Chartered Accountants 

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and hobby breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Skiing

Football

Peter Barnett
Fellow Certified Practising 

Accountant (FCPA) 

Date joined 
Committee/Board
June 1999

Business interests
Director of AMCIL Ltd 

and Djerriwarrh 

Investments Limited 

Former Chief Executive 

Officer of EZ Industries Ltd

Managing Director of 

Pasminco Ltd (1988 – 1995)

Former President, Minerals 

Council of Australia 

Current racing interests
Raced a number 

of horses, including 

Paris Lane, Mr Baritone 
and Eskimo Queen
Was a member of the 

syndicate that raced 

Harbinger, who recently 

won the 2010 King George 

VI and Queen Elizabeth 

Stakes at Ascot (UK)

Interests outside of racing
Golf

Food and wine
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Paul Leeds
Associate Fellow of 

Australian Institute 

of Management

Date joined 
Committee/Board
April 2002

Business interests
Board Director of National 

Stroke Foundation 

Board Director of 

Collingwood Football Club

Board Director of 

Radio 3UZ Pty Limited

Chairman Twenty3 

Sport+Entertainment

Chairman Australian 

Made Media

Advisory Board 

Menzies Art Brands

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Art

Food, wine and travel

Collectables

Football

Amanda Elliott
BA (Hons) Melbourne 

University

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2002

Business interests
Director of Pastoral and 

Investment Companies

Melbourne City Council 

Advisory Board for 

Melbourne Spring 

Fashion Week

Current racing interests
Breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Tennis

Travel

Music

Theatre and film

Agriculture

Katherine Bourke
BA, LLB, LLM

Member of the Victorian 

Bar 1989 – 2007

Chairman of the 

Bookmakers and 

Bookmakers’ Clerks 

Registration Committee 

2000 – 2007

Judge of County Court 

of Victoria 2007

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2004

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Hawthorn Football Club

Food, wine and travel

Tim Poole
Bachelor of Commerce, 

Melbourne University 

Associate, Institute of 

Chartered Accountants

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2006

Business interests
Non-executive director of 

Newcrest Mining Limited

Non-executive 

director of Lifestyle 

Communities Limited

Non-executive director 

and chairman of 

Westbourne Credit 

Management Limited

Non-executive director 

and chairman of 

Continuity Capital 

Partners Pty Limited

Member of Investment 

Committee of 

AustralianSuper

Member of Advisory 

Board of LEK Consulting

Current racing interests
Chairman of 

Swettenham Stud

An interest in several 

racehorses

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Running

Dale Monteith 
Bachelor of Commerce 

Melbourne University

Australian Sports 

Medal 2000

Date joined 
Committee/Board
June 2000

Business interests
Chief Executive of 

Victoria Racing Club 

(2000 – present)

Tabcorp Joint Venture 

Management Committee 

(1994 – 2010)

Previously Chief Executive 

of MRC (1991 – 2000)

Current racing interests
Thoroughbred breeding

Interests outside of racing
Family 

Geelong Football Club

Cycling

Golf
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Given the considerable uncertainty regarding the impact 

of the Global Financial Crisis (GFC), the results achieved 

in the year under review were very positive.

In preparing budgets for 2009/10, it was obvious that 

revenue streams would be significantly impacted. In fact, 

a $9 million revenue reduction was forecast, which in turn 

required management to at least target a similar reduction 

in expenditure.

Fortunately, results from the 2009 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival were much better than budgeted, with revenues 

in most areas, except for Corporate Hospitality, being held 

at or above 2008 levels. In addition, strong cost controls, 

with the support of our major Carnival event partners and 

suppliers, saw costs come in considerably under budget.

The final result of a $4.3 million profit for the year was 

therefore an outstanding result and provides a strong 

base for the Club, with future strategies in relation to 

the Flemington 2025 Masterplan.

While the Club has positioned itself to control all aspects 

of its activities at Flemington, 2009/10 further highlighted 

the uncertainty surrounding the future funding of the 

Victorian Racing Industry. In particular, it is essential that 

by the end of 2010 the state government will have awarded 

the new 10-year Wagering Licence to apply from August 

2012. This should remove an element of uncertainty.

The ‘no less favourable’ clauses in legislation, to protect 

existing funding levels post-2012, will be crucial in 

this regard.

In tandem with re-licensing, the continuing dramatic 

change to the wagering landscape in Australia is 

without doubt the most confronting issue for racing. 

Clearly corporate bookmakers and betting exchanges, 

licensed in other states and territories, while harnessing 

new wagering opportunities for racing, also have the 

potential to significantly cannibalise wagering revenue 

from the totalisator (TAB) system, which has supported 

the growth and development of Australian racing 

over the past 50 years.

In this regard, the continued offcourse exclusivity 

of the state’s totalisator operators will be fundamental 

to the future funding of racing. One only has to look to the 

United Kingdom to realise that if this changes, Australian 

racing will be seriously underfunded in the future.

Chief 
Executive’s
Report

The results achieved 
in the year under review 
were very positive

Dale G Monteith, Chief Executive
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2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival
The four-day attendance of almost 369,000, the sixth 

highest on record, was pleasing given the impact of the 

GFC, particularly in the Corporate Hospitality area when 

numbers were down by 36.5% on 2008 Carnival levels.

Fortunately, we were blessed with fine weather on all four 

days, which encouraged Member and public attendances.

While Japanese horses were prevented from competing, 

due to quarantine arrangements not being satisfied, 

a number of European horses raced during the 2009 

Carnival. While local stayer Shocking won our great race, 

the visitors completed the trifecta, which will continue 

to encourage future international participation in the 

Emirates Melbourne Cup.

Prizemoney
In line with the need to contain costs, when preparing 

the Club’s 2009/10 budget, prizemoney levels were 

held at about 2008/09 levels. This was a particularly 

challenging exercise given forecast revenue reductions 

at the start of the year.

A particular focus in this process was maintaining 2009 

Melbourne Cup Carnival prizemoney levels at previous 

years’ levels. At the conclusion of the Carnival, prizemoney 

increases above budget allowances were made in the 

second half of the year, based upon the better than 

expected financial results from the Carnival.

While VRC’s wagering distributions have remained 

broadly flat, other shareholders have enjoyed substantial 

increases in distribution. The VRC believes it important 

that as much as possible, future distribution arrangements 

provide incentives for good performance and avoid any 

unnecessary cross-subsidies. 

Racing Victoria Limited’s (RVL) prizemoney policies, 

after the awarding of the new wagering licence to 

apply in 2012, will be important in the years ahead 

in maintaining minimum prizemoney levels. 

Training at Flemington
The requirement for the VRC to continue to fund the 

cost of training in Victoria is an ongoing concern.

The Club recognises how important it is to the industry that 

there are good training facilities, such as those available 

at Flemington. However, this is an industry service and thus 

the funding of training needs to be viewed as an industry 

cost. Today, the VRC bears a significant net cost ($1.3 million) 

to provide training facilities at Flemington.

More recently, we have been encouraged by the fact that 

RVL appears to recognise the need to provide more funding 

for training facilities. This principle should apply to both 

operating and capital costs.

Radio Sport 927
It is most unsatisfactory that the VRC continues to be 

required to meet part of the cost of Sport 927’s operations 

since Tabcorp withdrew nearly $3 million in funding from 

the station at the end of 2008.

The VRC values the important role played by Sport 927 

in providing broadcasts and acknowledges that it is an 

important industry asset. However, the arrangements via 

which the shareholders provide support for Sport 927 are 

anomalous, in that there is no clear relationship between 

the financial contributions being made and the benefits 

provided. This must be an important priority to be 

addressed by RVL. 

Gaming
During 2009/10, the Club participated in the state 

government’s process for the procurement of gaming 

machine licences for a 10-year period from August 2012.

VRC was successful in obtaining 80 licences at a favourable 

cost. This has enabled the Club to plan with confidence 

the move of our gaming venue, which is currently located 

behind the public Hill Grandstand, to a site near the Epsom 

and Racecourse Roads roundabout. It is planned to open 

the new venue in August 2012.

Preliminary work has been undertaken in designing the 

new venue, yet to be named, which will be the first major 

project undertaken in the Flemington 2025 Masterplan 

and which promises to return incremental revenue 

for the Club.

The Hong Kong Jockey Club
In a significant move, The Hong Kong Jockey Club 

expanded its coverage and betting on Australian racing 

during 2009/10. This saw five races on each of AAMI 

Victoria Derby and Coolmore Lightning Stakes Days and 

four races on Emirates Melbourne Cup Day, in addition 

to the Cup, wagered on in Hong Kong for the first time.

This generated additional international wagering revenue 

for the Club. For the year under review, close to $1 million 

in revenue was generated from international wagering, 

much of which, of course, was associated with wagering 

on Emirates Melbourne Cup Day. The Club will continue 

to pursue international wagering opportunities in line 

with its long-term strategy.
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Media rights
During the year, TVN and the Club embarked on 

negotiations for the extension of the existing media 

rights agreement for a period corresponding with 

the new wagering licence to be awarded in 2012.

Also during the year, TVN and Tabcorp engaged in 

discussions, with VRC’s support, for the creation of 

a joint venture partnership to manage racing’s media 

rights in the future. Unfortunately, these negotiations 

appear to have stalled, which could eventually lead to 

a similar imbroglio as to that which occurred in 2006 

when the ‘TV wars’ occurred.

The VRC strongly believes that both parties must work 

together to ensure this does not happen. However, the 

final outcome must not come at a cost to the race clubs 

in terms of receiving less for media rights than the 

clubs are entitled to in the years ahead.

Intellectual Property (IP) protection
The VRC continued to be plagued by the actions of 

unrelated third parties seeking to leverage off the 

brand and intellectual property rights of the VRC 

for financial benefit.

It is most important that the Club acts to protect its IP 

and also the interests of its many sponsors and corporate 

partners, which have made significant contributions 

to the VRC for the right to be associated with the Club’s 

brands and intellectual property.

Peter Rowland Catering
Negotiations were completed to extend the Club’s catering 

agreement with Peter Rowland Catering (PRC) for a further 

five-year term.

The Board believes that combined the Flemington and 

PRC brands provide the VRC with a significant competitive 

advantage, with the provision of premium catering services 

for Members and the public at Flemington.

This agreement will continue to focus on providing 

Members with quality catering experiences at prices 

that are subsidised, by choice, by the Club.

Waste recycling
The waste recycling record of the VRC is unsurpassed 

in the racing industry and equal to world’s best practice 

for major events.

During the 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival, more than 

271 tonnes of waste, which would have previously gone 

into landfill, was recycled, or 54% of the total waste 

produced from the Carnival.

This focus will continue in future years, as it will form 

the basis of ongoing cleaning contract arrangements.

Chief Executive’s Report ›

Membership
At the conclusion of the 2009/10 season, the total number 

of Members, in all categories, stood at a record 29,739.

During the year 1,233 new Restricted Members were 

admitted and 1,221 existing Restricted Members were 

elevated to Full Membership status at the beginning 

of the season.

It is very clear that demand for Membership of the VRC 

is as strong as ever, not only in terms of new Memberships, 

but also evidenced by the high retention rate of 96.4% 

among existing Members in 2009/10.

The Board and management remain focused on the 

fact that Member support is not something that we can 

take for granted. Strategies will continue to be developed 

to ensure the strong support of Members continues.

Clearly the replacement of the Members’ Old Grandstand, 

in the medium term, with a state-of-the-art Member-

focused facility, which acknowledges not only the past 

history of Flemington, but also the needs of the broad 

demographic Membership base of the Club, will be 

a key Membership strategy and most probably the 

central plank of the Club’s Flemington 2025 Masterplan.

Water strategy
Access to adequate supplies of water, to sustain the Club’s 

racing and training activities at Flemington, continues to 

be the single most significant risk for the Club.

As reported previously, the VRC will, most probably, in the 

next five years need to undertake the development of 

a sewer treatment plant at Flemington to harvest up to 

150 million litres of water for use on the tracks at Flemington. 

This will come at a significant cost to the Club, part of 

which will be offset by savings from the use of potable 

water, the cost of which is expected to double over the 

same timeframe.

The VRC’s water partner, City West Water, has been most 

supportive during the past few years and continues 

to work with the Club on options in this regard, as well 

as assisting the Club manage its water entitlements.

During the year, 20 million litres of water less than our 

entitlements was used at Flemington, which can be 

‘banked’ for future use. In addition, work continued on 

the development of two desalination bores, which, when 

fully operational, will deliver more than 40 million litres 

of water annually for use on the Flemington grounds 

and gardens.
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Super Saturday
This wonderful racemeeting continues to grow and 

develop in stature. However, 2010 will best be remembered 

for a weather event unsurpassed in Flemington’s 

170-year history.

The hailstorm, which covered the racecourse and grounds 

in a sea of white and decimated foliage and flowers from 

trees and rose bushes, forced the cancellation of the 

meeting immediately after the running of the Group 1 

Newmarket Handicap.

Fortunately, the Club was able to reschedule the 2010 

Group 1 Darley Australian Cup and Crown Guineas races 

to the subsequent Saturday, which was rebranded Super 

Family Day. Free admission was made available on that day 

to acknowledge all those who attended on Super Saturday.

Members Disciplinary Sub-Committee
Pleasingly, the number of incidents that forced the 

Club to suspend or cancel Membership privileges during 

2009/10 was reduced, compared with the previous year.

This means that the Club’s message of ‘zero tolerance’ 

of unacceptable behaviour is being heeded.

The support of Members is crucial to the Club’s ongoing 

ability to maintain behavioural standards, particularly 

in the Members’ Reserved Car Parks. This support is needed 

to encourage Victoria Police and the Liquor Licensing 

Commissioner to continue to allow the BYO policy in 

the Reserved Car Park areas.
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Membership

Membership Categories
  No. of 
  Members

Full  22,630

Restricted  3,703

Life  109

Pre 1979  444

Provisional  111

Absentee  1,596

Junior  1,146

Total  29,739

Membership Attendance
2007 2008 2009

 Total    Total   Total  
 Crowd Members % Crowd Members % Crowd Members %

Derby 115,705 54,310 46.9 117,776 53,103 45.1 108,178 52,485 48.5

Cup 102,411 41,667 40.7 107,280 43,182 40.3 102,161 43,013 42.1

Oaks 95,230 47,417 49.8 89,338 42,216 47.3 80,112 40,500 50.6

Stakes 84,067 45,242 53.8 81,652 43,991 53.9 78,478 44,945 57.3

Total 397,413 188,636 47.5 396,046 182,492 46.1 368,929 180,943 49.0

Racing Rewards Group Status 
Rewards Group No. of  No. of
 Members Members
 2008/09 2009/10

Group 3 4,247 4,078

Group 2 1,873 1,925

Group 1 1,566 1,741

Total 7,686 7,744

Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2010

16



Membership overview
Despite the economic uncertainty at the beginning of the 

2009/10 season, the Club’s Membership base continued 

to grow, particularly in the Restricted category.

At the completion of 2009/10, the Club held the 

highest number of Restricted Members in its history, 

with 3,703 Members in this category. The increase in 

the Restricted Membership base is due to the strong 

96.4% Full Membership retention rate and cap on 

Full Membership. As a result, the waiting period for 

elevation from Restricted to Full Membership is now 

five to six Racing Seasons, further highlighting the 

exclusivity associated with VRC Membership.

During 2009/10, the Membership Department 

implemented the following initiatives:

•  The multi-year Membership Card – Member and 

Guest Cards are operational for the 2009/10 

and 2010/11 seasons

•  Expansion of the Members’ Benefit Program, which 

included increasing the Emirates offer from a 10% 

discount on all flights to a 15% discount (Melbourne 

departures only)

•  A premium Members’ facility in The Birdcage during 

the Melbourne Cup Carnival – the Members’ Pavilion.

A break down of Membership categories at the conclusion 

of 2009/10 is on the opposite page.

Member attendance
AAMI Victoria Derby Day was the most popular day of 

the 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival, with 52,485 Members 

and guests comprising 48.5% of the day’s attendance. 

On the opposite page is an attendance summary 

of the Melbourne Cup Carnival from 2007 to 2009. 

Member attendance remained strong, with Members 

attending, on average, five racemeetings during the year 

outside of the Carnival. 

Racing Rewards
Support for the Racing Rewards Program, now in its ninth 

year of operation, continued to grow during 2009/10, which 

was demonstrated by the highest number of Members 

achieving Group Status since the program’s inception. 

Market research shows that Members see the program 

as an added value of Membership and they appreciate 

the recognition for their loyalty to the Club. More than 

three-quarters of Members surveyed agreed that the 

program is a good initiative. 

In addition, the popularity of the program was evident 

through the record 64 Members who attended every 

racemeeting during the 2009/10 season. The achievement 

of these Members was recognised on Racing Rewards 

Raceday, featuring the Aurie’s Star Handicap, on Saturday 

7 August 2010. 

Members’ events
A wide variety of events on offer during 2009/10 were 

strongly supported by Members. In August 2009, the 

Club held a Members’ dinner at well-known Melbourne 

restaurant Grossi Florentino. The success of this event 

led to organising a series of dinners at Grossi Florentino, 

beginning in July 2010, to celebrate the 150th running 

of the Melbourne Cup. 

Of noteworthy mention was the popularity of the Young 

Members’ End of Season Ball, which reached capacity 

in record time and ‘An evening with Gai Waterhouse’, 

which had the highest number of Members and guests 

in attendance for a guest speaker evening.

Strong attendances were also recorded at the 

following events:

•  Emirates Junior Members’ Marquee 

on Emirates Stakes Day

•  Members’ Spring Fashion Cocktail Party

•  Members’ Art and Heritage Walking Tours

•  Members’ Wine Appreciation Lunch

•  Members’ Stud Tours.

Melbourne Cup Carnival Members’ 
Reserved Car Parks
The popularity of the Members’ Reserved Car Parks was 

demonstrated through strong sales during the 2009 

Carnival. AAMI Victoria Derby Day was the most popular 

day in the Members’ Reserved Car Parks, reaching capacity 

in The Nursery, The Domain and The Rails. 

A major focus of the Membership Department continued 

to be enhancing the overall experience for patrons in 

the Members’ Reserved Car Parks. To assist in this regard, 

Pedestrian Pass limits for standard Car Sites in The Nursery 

on Emirates Stakes Day were reduced from 12 to 10 and 

Super Sites in The Nursery from 25 to 20, which significantly 

eased overcrowding. 

Members seeking high-end entertainment facilities in 

The Birdcage were accommodated through The Hedges 

and Chalets, which reached near capacity during the 

Carnival. In addition, the newly created Members’ Pavilion 

was a popular option for Members and their guests 

seeking to experience the excitement of The Birdcage. 

This initiative will be continued in 2010. 

Communications
The quality of the Club’s communications was recognised 

during 2009/10 when the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival 

Official Souvenir Magazine received a silver medal for 

Best Overall Design, Custom, in the 2009 Folio awards, 

the largest international awards competition in 

magazine publishing.
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•  A decisive victory by WA visitor Scenic Shot in the 

Mackinnon Stakes

•  Flemington trainer Mark Kavanagh’s first Emirates 

Melbourne Cup success, delivered by his 4YO Shocking, 

over Godolphin’s Crime Scene
•  The outstanding victory of Bart Cummings’s 

Faint Perfume in the Crown Oaks

•  The scintillating finish of former Emirates Stakes winner 

All Silent, from last placing halfway down the home 

straight, in the Patinack Farm Classic, a leg of the 2009 

GLOBAL SPRINT CHALLENGE™

•  The authoritative victory, in very fast time, by All American 

over the Cox Plate winning 3YO So You Think, ahead of 

a high-class field in the Emirates Stakes

2010 Super Saturday
Everyone on course will always remember the incredible 

hailstorm that descended on Flemington during the 

afternoon, which was described by experts as a ‘one in 

150 years’ weather event. It forced the rescheduling of the 

Darley Australian Cup and Crown Guineas to the following 

Saturday. Nevertheless, highlights were:

•  The brave win by Peter Moody trained 3YO colt Wanted 

in the Newmarket Handicap, just prior to the storm 

blanketing Flemington, over subsequent international 

performers Eagle Falls and Starspangledbanner
•  The exciting victory of Bart Cummings’s Rock Classic 

in the Crown Guineas

•  The thrilling photo finish in the Darley Australian Cup, 

which favoured the seemingly ageless gelding Zipping, 

which became Danehill’s last-ever Australian Group 1 

individual winner.

Summary
Flemington race programming strategies and initiatives 

are aligned with the VRC’s vision – to maintain Flemington 

as a world leader in thoroughbred racing. These objectives 

are met through:

•  Securing optimal race dates for the VRC

•  Setting timely feature races, run over an appropriate 

distance, under suitable weight, gender and/or age 

eligibility conditions 

•  Offering the highest possible prizemoney in the various 

race segments. 

The strategic placement of feature races at Flemington, 

whether steeped in history or relatively new, all carry 

significant financial rewards for participants, and 

continue to be a major plank in the VRC’s positioning 

as one of the world’s great racing clubs. The intrinsic 

value that the VRC’s Group and Listed Races in particular 

deliver to the Australasian thoroughbred breeding 

industry is inestimable.

Feature races at the right time, with substantial 

prizemoney and historical significance, again attracted 

connections of the best available horses from Australasia

to Flemington in 2009/10, and in the case of the 2009 

Emirates Melbourne Cup, also from around the globe.

The 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival provided wonderful 

racing and many memorable moments. In a rare feat, 

all four flagship races were won by Flemington trained 

horses, headlined by Shocking in the 149th running 

of ‘The Race That Stops a Nation’ – the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup. Unusually, three of the winners 

were ridden by the same jockey – Corey Brown.

Overview
The Club’s success during 2009/10, for the benefit 

of VRC Members and racing industry stakeholders, was 

showcased by the high quality of racing at Flemington, 

especially at feature meetings, with the 2009 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival at the forefront.

Facts emerging from the 24 VRC racemeetings include:

•  22 days at Flemington, in its third season of racing 

following a successful track reconstruction 

•  Two Sunday racedays at Sandown in August

•  199 races with a total of 2,263 starters (average 11.4) 

•  13 Group One, 12 Group Two, 12 Group Three, and 

32 Listed Races, for a total of 69 ‘Black Type’ races

•  $35.56 million in prizemoney was paid out.

In the Club’s ‘flight to quality’, the overall racing program

at Flemington hosted an enviable quota of Group or Listed 

Races – almost 38%. This statistic is testament to the Club’s 

reputation worldwide as a host and promoter of excellence 

in thoroughbred racing.

Highlights
2009 September and October racemeetings 
•  The class of Black Caviar in the Group 2 Danehill Stakes; 

a race advancing towards Group 1 status

•  The stunning last to first victory by All Silent in the Group 

2 Gilgai Stakes, foreshadowing an identical performance 

in the Group 1 Patinack Farm Classic

•  An elite field in the Group 1 Turnbull Stakes, conquered 

by former AAMI Victoria Derby and Emirates Melbourne 

Cup winner, and Flemington specialist, Efficient

2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival – Group 1 Events
•  The exciting three-way photo in the Coolmore 

Stud Stakes, with filly Headway prevailing

•  The dominance of Typhoon Tracy over Australia’s 

best mares at WFA in the Myer Classic 

•  A wonderful staying performance by former 

NZ colt Monaco Consul in the AAMI Victoria Derby

Racing
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Flemington race programming 
and prizemoney levels align 
to the VRC’s vision – to maintain 
Flemington as a world leader 
in thoroughbred racing

Below: Mark Kavanagh trained Outlandish Lad 
is eased down, a clear winner of the All Greys 1400 
on 2009 Crown Oaks Day.
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Flemington 
Racecourse
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Grandstand facilities
Major maintenance works continued during 2009/10, 

with new carpet laid in The Grandstand and the Members’ 

Old Grandstand.

Upgrades to the audiovisual infrastructure continued, 

with investments in LCD TVs and expansion of the 

‘Flexicast’ system, which provides online tote and 

bookmaker odds from Tabcorp and the Australian Prices 

Network (APN) respectively. Each TV receives a direct 

online feed from Flexicast, which offers our customers 

greater flexibility in what can be shown on individual TVs, 

as well as enhanced visibility of the data.

Water resources 
During the year, the Club worked within the parameters 

of its Flemington Water Management Action Plan. We used 

20 million litres less water than we were allocated by City 

West Water and continued the trialling and development 

of desalinating ground water using innovative ‘in situ’ 

desalination technology. In July 2010, one bore was flowing 

at a rate of 20 million litres of desalinated water per year. 

Final installation and hand over as an operating ‘in situ’ 

desalinating bore is anticipated in the new Racing Season.

The Club continues to work with our technical consultants, 

City West Water and Melbourne Water, on a long-term 

sustainable solution using sewer mining to produce 

recycled water, which would reduce our potable water 

usage by up to 50%.

Course proper
During 2009/10, Flemington staged 22 racemeetings. 

The track continued to provide a high quality, even and 

consistent racing surface, which provided owners, trainers, 

jockeys and punters with confidence that their horses 

would be given every chance. During the year, plastic 

running rail was installed as part of the Club and Victorian 

industry’s commitment to improving jockey safety.

Grounds and gardens
Work on the grassed parking bays in the Members’ 

Unreserved Car Park was completed as part of the ongoing 

commitment to greening Flemington. It is planned for 

water to be supplied for the grassed areas from the 

innovative ‘in situ’ desalination plants when they are 

commissioned. The Grounds and Gardens sub-committee 

was very active during the year, completing an audit on all 

trees on the Flemington site, recording locations, species 

and state of health. This will help with the management 

of existing trees and the future planning of tree plantings. 

Particular emphasis was also placed on preparing for the 

150th Melbourne Cup celebrations at Flemington.

Event Operations
The Event Operations Team had a most challenging year, 

with four days of the Melbourne Cup Carnival, Super 

Saturday in the autumn and three major outdoor music 

events. Major initiatives undertaken during the year 

included improving security through the increased 

use of technology, physical barriers protecting the 

Flemington site and planned manpower resources.

The track continued to provide 
a high quality, even and consistent 
racing surface
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Marketing

An independent study conducted 
by IER found that the 2009 
Melbourne Cup Carnival 
generated a gross economic 
benefit of $344.1 million 
for the Victorian economy
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Carnival events including the Chairman’s Dinner, Emirates 

Melbourne Cup Parade, Pre-Cup Entertainment and 

VRC Oaks Club Luncheon. From the sale of Cup lapel pins, 

through the Pin & Win competition, $463,709 was raised 

for the appeal. 

Through raffles and pin sales, a further $80,000 was 

raised for the Melbourne Cup Community Fund, with 

donations made to National Jockeys’ Trust, SecondBite, 

The Alfred Foundation, Volunteer Fire Brigades Victoria 

and Living Legends during the season.

The VRC’s Community Partnerships with DOXA Youth 

Foundation and Western Health continue to generate 

much needed contributions for these not-for-profit 

organisations, raised through fundraising lunches, 

tin rattling and pledges.

Launch of the 150th 
Melbourne Cup Celebrations
The 150th Melbourne Cup launch was conducted 

at Flemington Racecourse on Tuesday 2 February 

announcing the full calendar of activities and initiatives 

in the lead-up to 2010 Emirates Melbourne Cup.

The Chairman of the VRC announced an extensive 220-day 

tour of the Cup trophy across the globe; the development 

of a new Flemington Visitor Centre, including a Heritage 

Trail and Walk of Fame; the release of a commemorative 

fifty cent coin to be produced by the Royal Australian 

Mint; a commemorative stamp series by Australia Post; 

a 150th Melbourne Cup Book and DVD titled The Story 
of the Melbourne Cup: Australia’s Greatest Race; as well 

as a schools’ education website created in conjunction 

with Curriculum Corporation.

The launch unveiled the new logo and branding for the 

150th celebrations. A star-studded line up of Cup luminaries 

included Dermot Weld, Michael Kinane, Yasunari Iwata, 

Katsuhiko Sumii, John Meagher, Steven King, Damien Oliver, 

Glen Boss, Lloyd Williams, Michael Rodd, Pat Hyland and 

Mark de Mestre. The media event generated widespread 

publicity and set the standard for the ensuing 150th events 

and promotions during 2010.

2010 Flemington Festival of Racing
The Flemington Festival of Racing, featuring Super 

Saturday on Saturday 6 March witnessed one of the 

most extraordinary weather days in Flemington’s 

170-year history. A hailstorm, which caused considerable 

damage across Melbourne, hit Flemington with such 

intensity the program was abandoned directly after 

Wanted secured the Newmarket Handicap. 

Fortunately, a special exhibition canter down the 

straight by international star performer, Takeover Target 

was successfully completed before the storm, as was

Myer Couples Fashions on the Field. Despite forecasts 

for inclement weather, 22,173 racegoers attended 

Super Saturday.

With the Super Saturday meeting cut short, the remaining 

key races from the program were carried over to the aptly 

renamed ‘Super Family Day’.

Free admission drew a crowd of 16,853, and families 

made full use of Flemington’s beautiful lawns, and

kids’ entertainment by ABC’s Justine Clarke entertained

a vibrant and enthusiastic crowd at the outdoor 

Phar Lap Club Party.

2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival 
economic impact
An independent study conducted by IER found that the 

2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival generated a gross economic 

benefit of $344.1 million for the Victorian economy. 

This translated to a real gross value add of $155.77 million, 

an increase of 5.2% from 2008. Furthermore, the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival was found to be responsible for an uplift 

in national gross economic benefit of $714.1 million, which 

included spending generated at racetracks, restaurants, 

functions, hotels, clubs and private house parties, 

particularly on Emirates Melbourne Cup Day.

Key findings included:

•  Racegoers spent more than $29 million in Victoria 

on the purchase of fashion items for the Carnival

•  The Carnival was responsible for more than 114,000 

nights of commercial accommodation worth more 

than $22 million to the Victorian economy

•   More than 1.3 million people nationally hosted, or went 

to, a private house party on Emirates Melbourne Cup Day

•  More than 305,000 people attended a racemeeting 

at one of the 49 held across the nation on Cup Day.

2009 Myer Fashions on the Field
Myer Fashions on the Field was once again conducted on 

a national scale, with five interstate heats held in capital 

cities for the women’s racewear category preceding the 

final at Flemington on Crown Oaks Day. Further categories 

included Men’s Racewear and the exclusive invitation-only 

Design and Millinery Awards.

The coveted national title for women’s racewear was 

awarded to WA’s state winner Elizabeth Pollard, who 

received a brand new Lexus IS 250C Convertible and 

a share of the $400,000 prize pool. 

Emirates Stakes Day Fashions on the Field welcomed 

over 1,000 pre-registered entries across three categories

– junior, intermediate and senior.

Fashionable judging panels were assembled for both 

competitions, consisting of milliners, designers, media 

and representatives from Myer, Emirates and the VRC. 

Guest judges included Yeojin Bae, Dom Bagnato, 

Wayne Cooper, Kerrie Stanley, Karen Walker, 

Arabella Ramsay and Alison Veness-McGourty. 

2009 Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour
The 2009 Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour travelled 

extensively across Australasia, visiting 34 destinations, 

including schools, aged care facilities, civic receptions, 

media outlets and sponsor events. Tour ambassadors

Des Gleeson, John Letts, John Marshall, Jim Johnson,

Roy Higgins and Greg Hall all contributed significantly

to the event. The tour continues to be an important and 

immensely popular activity leading into the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival, encouraging community engagement 

and achieving national media coverage valued in 

excess of $4 million.

iPhone application
Utilising the latest in mobile technologies, an application 

for iPhones was developed for the 2009 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival. The ‘app’ included race form, news, events, 

GPS map, photos, trivia game and a Cup sweep.

Corporate social responsibility
The Olivia Newton-John Cancer and Wellness Centre 

Appeal was appointed as official charity of the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival. Headline ambassador, Olivia Newton-John 

championed the cause, attending and performing at many
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Lion Nathan completed its ninth year as the Club’s beer 

pourage rights holder, successfully introducing the well 

regarded Boag’s brand to Flemington and continuing to 

commit to a significant leverage spend to support Boag’s 

status as ‘Official Beer of the Melbourne Cup Carnival’.

Crown, as sponsor of the Crown Oaks, again hosted the 

largest private marquee on course during the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival, conducted the Melbourne Cup Carnival Live 

Site and helped the Club stage the prestigious VRC Oaks 

Club Luncheon on Crown Oaks eve. 

AAMI completed its eighteenth year as the AAMI Victoria 

Derby sponsor and Myer worked closely with the Club 

to ensure the Myer Fashions on the Field competition 

retained its status as the nation’s most significant 

public fashion event. 

Patinack Farm agreed to sponsor the Group 1 Patinack Farm 

Classic on Emirates Stakes Day for a new three-year term. 

Super Saturday in March was supported by key partners 

Darley, Crown, Schweppes, PFD Food Services and MSS 

Security. Sofitel became the principal sponsor of Girls’ Day 

Out in September.

Corporate hospitality
Despite Melbourne Cup Carnival corporate marquee 

hospitality being significantly impacted by the GFC 

and subsequent economic slowdown, it remained 

at the forefront of major sporting event hospitality.

More corporate marquee clients opted for single-day 

rather than four-day packages than in previous years 

and many regular clients chose smaller dining options 

rather than full marquee packages. 

Premium elevated marquees overlooking the track in 

both the Trackside and Winning Post enclosures were 

the preferred marquee option.

During the year, the Club reached agreement with 

marquee supplier Harry the Hirer to introduce a new 

state-of-the-art double storey ‘Absolute’ structure 

in the Winning Post enclosure for the 2010 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival. 

Corporate suites
Revenue from corporate suites grew by 5%, with half 

of the suites sold annually and the remainder sold on 

a meeting-to-meeting basis. All suites were at capacity 

for the Melbourne Cup Carnival and other feature 

racemeetings.

The strength and commitment of the VRC’s longstanding 

corporate partners and hospitality clients assisted the 

Club to post an excellent result despite the Global Financial 

Crisis (GFC).

Sponsorship revenue, while down by 2%, was better than 

expected. High-end corporate hospitality was the area 

of the Club’s business most affected by the GFC, with 

revenue from corporate marquees and corporate suites 

down by 36.5%.

Despite the difficult economic environment, the majority 

of sponsors renewed agreements, with the total number 

for the year reaching 64. Of these, 41 sponsors participated 

in the 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival, which represented 

90% of the Club’s total income from sponsorship.

During the Carnival, 24 sponsor agreements were 

successfully renewed, with six new sponsors coming 

onboard. Four new sponsors also supported Sofitel 

Girls’ Day Out and Melbourne Cup Carnival Preview Day 

racemeetings in September and October respectively.

The strength and popularity of the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

remained the key driver for achieving an overall sponsor 

retention rate of 80% for the year. 

Significant sponsorships signed during the year included 

the appointment of Tabcorp as the VRC’s ‘Official Wagering 

Partner’ and Diageo as the ‘Official Spirits Partner’.

Lexus expanded its involvement to include the major 

prize for both Myer Fashions on the Field and Pin and 

Win promotions. From 2010, Lexus has further increased 

its commitment, signing on as the Club’s ‘Official 

Motor Vehicle’.

Foster’s renewed its longstanding sponsorship, committing 

to a new three-year term as the VRC’s ‘Official Wine Partner’, 

and a review of the French champagne exclusive supply 

rights saw the appointment of G.H.Mumm as the Club’s 

new supply partner in this category. 

Sponsor brand teams worked more closely than ever before 

with the Club to align sponsorships with brand strategies. 

This resulted in increased sponsor investment in leverage 

and event support.

The Club’s major corporate partners continued to underpin 

the corporate success of the Melbourne Cup Carnival and 

at Flemington year round.

Emirates completed its thirteenth year as a Club sponsor 

and its sixth as Principal Partner and Emirates Melbourne 

Cup race sponsor. Emirates also continued to support the 

Emirates Melbourne Cup Parade, Emirates Kids Fashions 

on the Field, Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour and the 

International Strategy.

 Sponsorship and 
Corporate Hospitality
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Key initiatives undertaken during 
2009/10 included:
•  Streamlining of internal feedback processes between 

Club departments and the caterers to ensure 

customer experience remained at the forefront 

of raceday operations

•  Ongoing reviews of the catering options available 

for both Members and public attendees resulted in 

continued improvement in offerings, most noticeably 

raceday buffets, Members’ bistro and in the public 

Undercroft layout and operation

•  Continual review of catering equipment requirements, 

ensured that the customer experience continued 

to evolve with investment in buffet and retail 

service equipment, along with soft furnishings 

in Members’ facilities

•  Co-operation with security and compliance authorities 

resulted in a record low number of alcohol related 

incidents and proved Flemington as a leader in this area

•  Major events such as ‘Big Day Out’, ‘Future Music’ and 

‘Good Vibrations’ assisted Peter Rowland Catering’s scales 

of economy in the areas of purchasing and labour 

requirements throughout the year

•  Peter Rowland Catering has continued to focus, as a 

Flemington Green Fields partner, on sustainable practices 

within the Club’s catering operations, most notably in 

waste management and recycling.

In the year under review, catering at Flemington 

Racecourse focused on the development of risk 

management strategies designed to mitigate the impact 

of the Global Financial Crisis. This involved driving revenue 

opportunities, and an in-depth review of operational 

efficiencies and costs across raceday catering, non-raceday 

functions and music festival management.

Operational efficiencies within the head caterer’s 

(Peter Rowland at Flemington) business led to the strategic 

exclusion of a number of ‘one-off’ direct expenses, which 

improved the bottom line result. A continued focus on 

customer service and satisfaction ensured that this was 

not compromised as a result.

Revenue levels remained similar to 2008/09, whereas 

operational efficiencies and ‘one-off’ direct cost savings 

resulted in a significantly improved net result for the 

Club from raceday catering (compared with the 2008/09 

Racing Season).

The panel of accredited contract caterers engaged for the 

2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival featured a cross-section 

of Melbourne’s most prominent caterers, including 

Peter Rowland Catering, Rowland Major Events, Epicure 

Catering, The Big Group, Life’s a Party, Libby Reid Catering, 

Table Matters and Damm Fine Food.

Catering

The panel of accredited contract caterers engaged 
for the 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival featured a 
cross-section of Melbourne’s most prominent caterers
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The Chairman’s Club
The Chairman’s Club sold 75 Memberships for the season.

The Terrace and The Panorama Restaurants
The Terrace Restaurant sold 296 annual seats 

and The Panorama Restaurant sold 84 annual seats 

for the season.

Melbourne Cup Business Network (MCBN)
The MCBN now has 1,328 Australian and international 

businesses registered as members and this continues 

to grow. The business network is a key component in the 

Club’s strategy to leverage the Melbourne Cup brand and 

to take Flemington to the world year round. The events 

program is held both locally and internationally and 

a strong communications strategy continues to drive 

new registrations and awareness.

In 2009, the International Lounge reached capacity 

on all four days of the Carnival and it was well received 

by companies entertaining business guests.

Event and product development 
The Club continued to develop its special events program 

including Spring Fashion Lunch, Footy Finals Fever Lunch 

@ Flemington, Hatstravagance™, VRC Oaks Club Luncheon, 

Cup Eve Gala Business Dinner and the Beautiful Girls 

Fashion Lunch.

Raceday events included the Retail Village on Sofitel 

Girls’ Day Out, the Westfield Doncaster Styling Suite 

on Melbourne Cup Carnival Preview Day and the 

Elms Food & Wine Festival on Super Saturday.

Business Development’s syndicated Melbourne Cup 

Carnival products were extremely successful as marquees, 

restaurants and enclosures operated at a 93.1% capacity 

during the four days of the Carnival and sales exceeded 

budget by 24%.

New Business – key brands
New business relationships, which supported Business 

Development strategies, were established with GUCCI 

Australia, a partner affiliation with the Oroton Group, 

Quintessentially and the Australian Society of Aesthetic 

Plastic Surgeons. 

During 2009/10, Business Development generated 

in excess of $10.67 million in net revenue, compared 

with $9.26 million from the previous year. Key results 

and achievements were as follows. 

Flemington – The Event Centre
•  Gross revenue from the Club’s non-raceday business 

during the year exceeded $8.3 million and 267 events 

were conducted

•  1,160 enquiries for functions were received and 

a conversion rate of 17% was achieved, with 56% 

of business generated from repeat clients 

Tourism and public sales 
During the season, the Club developed a strong network 

of travel operators, which presented the Club’s products 

throughout markets in Australia and overseas. The VRC’s 

participation at a number of travel tradeshows supported 

this strategy. 

Reserved seat sales continued to trend to single or two-day 

packages, which has been the growing trend during the 

past few years. A total of 14,964 reserved seating packages 

were sold in 2009.

The General Admission pre-sale strategy continued 

in 2009. TicketFast was available online for the first time, 

with customers able to print General Admission and 

reserved seating tickets at home. This proved a popular 

option, with 41,197 tickets sold through this method. 

General Admission tickets sold for the 2009 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival exceeded 94,000. 

Customer Service Centre (CSC)
Our CSC continued to play an integral role in the Club’s 

commitment to the provision of service to Members, 

the public, industry participants and internal customers.

During the year, the CSC recorded the following results: 

•  Orders totalled $21.163 million

•  Telephone calls increased by 3.02% to 99,764

•  Email enquiries increased by 3.4% to 14,666.

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
The online booking system, introduced in 2008/09, 

achieved great success, with more than 14,300 

transactions recorded and a total of $5.45 million 

processed through the system. 

Additional developments included the multi-year 

Membership Card and the introduction of online 

Pedestrian Pass purchases for Members.

The business network is a key component 
in the Club’s strategy to leverage 
the Melbourne Cup brand and to take 
Flemington to the world year round
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During 2009/10, the Club focused on employee engagement 

and culture, introducing a range of initiatives to further 

support the Club’s people strategy to be a recognised 

Employer of Choice in the racing, entertainment and 

event industries. 

Our people
As at 31 July 2010, Club staffing requirements totalled 

160 full-time and 12 part-time staff. During the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival period, the Club employed approximately 

950 raceday casual event staff, and, significantly, all staff 

with the exception of four, reported for work for the four 

days of racing. Importantly, 90% of the Club’s casual staff 

team made themselves available to work at the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival from the previous year, which is testament 

to their commitment to the VRC. It also ensured that the 

VRC casual workforce is well skilled and knowledgeable, 

ensuring a quality customer experience for all patrons. 

Employee engagement and culture 
During the year, there was a continued focus on the key 

drivers of employee engagement, particularly relating 

to opportunities for learning, growth and development, 

and providing a clear sense of vision and purpose. 

The Club implemented a range of ideas and initiatives 

that were positively received and which linked directly 

to the Club’s overall people strategy. They included, 

but were not limited to, the introduction of a Learning 

and Development Week for all staff that was a tailored, 

comprehensive learning program across a range of skills 

and capabilities. This week also incorporated a range 

of external international guest speakers encouraging 

continued excellence and innovation, which directly 

aligned with the VRC’s core values. Other initiatives 

included the first year of the Staff Exchange Program, 

with a number of staff successfully attending other 

‘best practice’ organisations and directly applying their 

learning and insights into the workplace on their return. 

This is an ongoing program that all staff can nominate 

to participate in, and the VRC has partnered with a 

number of highly successful organisations to ensure 

the continued benefits of this program. 

In addition, core HR policies were reviewed and updated 

in line with VRC values and employment legislation, and 

all staff attended a Workplace Compliance training series 

that covered these policies in detail. This program will 

be held annually as a refresher for all staff to ensure 

appropriate education and support for our people. 

Furthermore, continued enhancements were introduced 

to the Club’s performance management process to continue 

to drive a high performance culture. These enhancements 

included the introduction of formal performance ratings 

across all positions, and, equally, all line managers attended 

performance management training specifically to assist 

with this change. Online tools were also made available 

to all staff to ensure optimum benefit from performance 

review discussions and reviewing individual learning and 

development plans. 

Learning and development
In addition to the above, and as part of the international 

staff exchange initiative, two overseas staff members 

from Singapore Turf Club were hosted during the 2009 

Melbourne Cup Carnival period.

Our international guests participated in a tailored 

development program and worked across numerous 

departments in the lead-up to the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

Recruitment and selection
The Club continued to ensure that its approach for all 

recruitment activity was based upon recruiting talent 

into our business and selecting the best candidate for 

each position, whether it was a permanent or a casual role. 

The use of detailed job descriptions, a competency based 

selection process and rigorous reference checking ensured 

the successful hiring of many new recruits over the 

previous year. 

Work organisation
Close working relationships continued with the Australian 

Workers Union (AWU) and the Media Entertainment 

Arts Alliance. A revised Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 

with the AWU was ratified in early 2009 and is currently 

in operation. 

The VRC continues to enjoy a positive and constructive 

relationship with both organisations, built upon mutual 

respect, trust and co-operation.

Human
Resources

90% of the Club’s casual staff team 
made themselves available to work 
at the Melbourne Cup Carnival from 
the previous year
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During 2009/10, the Flemington Green Fields program 

continued to reduce the environmental impact of 

events and operations at Flemington.

Several new initiatives were introduced, which were 

supported by the Club’s Sustainability Partners – AGL 

Energy Limited, Cleanevent, Peter Rowland Catering, 

James Boag’s and SecondBite. All 22 racemeetings held 

at Flemington were powered with 100% GreenPower™ 

from AGL, Australia’s largest integrated renewable energy 

company. Furthermore, AGL worked collaboratively 

with the VRC throughout the season to develop and 

implement a range of energy efficiency measures 

at Flemington Racecourse.

Cleanevent partnered with the Club during the 

2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival to activate a Waste 

Minimisation Strategy, which saw increased on-site 

recycling infrastructure, improved waste supervision, 

waste auditing, in-depth reporting and educational 

communications to support these activities. As a direct 

result, significant gains were achieved, including the 

recycling of 271 tonnes and 54% diversion of waste 

from landfill.

To further reduce waste, SecondBite, a not-for-profit 

organisation, collected fresh and nutritious food from 

VRC functions and events during the 2009/10 season 

that would otherwise have gone to landfill. Working 

closely with a panel of accredited caterers, SecondBite 

redistributed, via local agencies, 4.05 tonnes of unused 

food, providing 8,000 nutritious meals to people in need.

A communications program was established to inform 

racegoers and garner support for these sustainability 

initiatives. This comprised communications to Members, 

racebook advertising, a recurring commercial on FTV 

during Carnival, featuring environmentalist Rob Gel, 

and a team of ‘Sustainability Ambassadors’ to encourage 

racegoers to use the recycling facilities.

Sustainability

Several new initiatives were introduced, which were 
supported by the Club’s Sustainability Partners
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The financial result for the 2009/10 year was a profit of

$4.3 million. This was an excellent outcome and underpins 

the Club’s objectives of reducing debt levels as quickly 

as possible, as well as providing a sound financial base 

as the Club embarks on the implementation of the 

Flemington 2025 Masterplan. In order to cope with the 

predicted negative impact of the Global Financial Crisis, 

management targeted significant reductions to the Club’s 

operating cost base. This was achieved by implementing 

strategies of cost containment and by the reduction 

of discretionary expenditure. The 2009 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival again contributed significantly to the overall 

result for the year. While the Corporate Hospitality segment 

showed a decline of 36.5% in gross revenues, most other 

Melbourne Cup revenue streams held up well compared 

with prior years. Gross revenues, from Members and their 

guests, play an enormous part in the financial success of 

the Club. Revenues from these areas totalled $23.3 million, 

which was an increase of 14.6% on the previous year. 

Considering that this excludes the financial contribution 

that Members make to the Club’s catering revenues 

on racedays, Members are to be congratulated for 

their ongoing financial commitment to the Club.

Also contributing to the financial result for the 2009/10 

year was the performance of the Club’s three music 

festivals, which contributed just over $4 million in gross 

revenues, which was an increase of 22.6% on the previous 

year. Revenues in this area would have been even greater 

if not for the effect of the hailstorm on 6 March, which 

greatly impacted the festival held the following day.

Included in expenditure for the year were interest costs 

of $1.43 million, which decreased by $0.6 million on the 

previous year.

Net cash position
As at 31 July 2010, the Club had borrowings of $16 million, 

which was a reduction of $7.5 million on the previous year’s 

closing position. The Club will continue to focus on prudent 

debt management, ensuring appropriate funding is 

available to finance the Club’s 2025 Masterplan initiatives.

Wagering
Wagering on Flemington racemeetings decreased by 

13.9% for the season. The main contributor to the reduction 

was the performance of the bookmaker generated turnover. 

Turnover from this segment reduced by $68.4 million, 

or 39.3%.

Oncourse turnover decreased by $2.3 million, or 3.8%, 

on the previous year. 

Risk management
Further achievements occurred during the year in 

the area of risk management. The Club introduced 

an automated risk management system that enables 

management to maintain a strong focus on the timely 

identification of risks and more particularly the actions 

required to minimise those risks wherever possible.

Finance
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Board responsibility
The Board meets eleven times per year or more frequently 

as the need arises, to discuss issues affecting the Club and 

to review the Club’s operations. The Directors operate 

according to a strict code of conduct and the rules set 

down by the Club’s constitution and by-laws. 

Sub-committees
The Board establishes sub-committees, as required, to assist 

in carrying out its primary functions. These sub-committees 

meet on a regular basis and act in an advisory capacity, 

making recommendations to the Board. 

Corporate reporting
The Board receives financial, legal and departmental 

reports in advance of each scheduled meeting and 

otherwise, as required.

Annually, the Chief Executive and the General Manager 

Business and Finance make the following representations 

to the Board:

•  That the Financial Statements are complete and present 

a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 

financial position and operating results of the Club

•  That the above statement is founded on a sound 

system of internal controls and risk management that 

implements the policies adopted by the Board and 

that the Club’s risk management and internal controls 

are operating efficiently and effectively.

The Board of Directors of Victoria Racing Club Limited is 

responsible for the governance of the Club and remains 

committed to continuous improvement in this area. 

In the financial year just completed, the Club implemented 

a new web-based risk management system to monitor 

and report on risks affecting the business. This provides 

input and ownership to staff at all levels and in all 

departments of the Club, while ensuring greater visibility 

and confidence to senior management and the Board.

The Club’s main corporate governance practices 

are detailed as follows. All of these practices, unless 

otherwise stated, were in place for the whole financial 

year. Further initiatives are already planned for 2010/11.

Board composition and term of office
•  The Board currently consists of eight independent 

Directors and the Chief Executive

•  Each independent Director must seek re-election every 

three years

•  The Chairman, Vice Chairman and Honorary Treasurer 

are appointed each year. They may each serve for 

a maximum of eight years in each position and must 

stand down from each position at the next Annual 

General Meeting after reaching the age of 68

•  Directors must resign their position at the next 

AGM after they reach the age of 72

•  It is the Board’s intention to seek Directors with a broad 

range of skills and experience to assist it in carrying 

out its responsibilities and in meeting the Club’s 

strategic objectives

•  Should a casual vacancy arise on the Board, existing 

Directors have the power to fill that vacancy after 

considering the skills and experience of existing 

Board members

Corporate 
Governance

Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2010

33



Conflicts of interest
Directors are expected to avoid any action, position or 

interest that conflicts with an interest of the Club or may 

give any appearance of such a conflict. A Director who has 

a conflict or a perceived conflict with an interest of the Club 

must bring the matter to the notice of the other Directors.

The general principle adopted by the Board, in keeping 

with the Corporations Act, is that if any Director has a 

material interest in any matter that is being considered 

by the Board, then that Director will not be present while 

the matter is being considered (or, if present, will not vote).

Remuneration of senior executives
A Remuneration Committee comprising the Chairman, 

Vice Chairman and Honorary Treasurer reviews senior 

executive remuneration annually. The Chief Executive 

also attends these meetings.

Legal review
The VRC’s in-house legal counsel are involved in the 

negotiation of all contracts and provide advice and 

support on any matters affecting the overall legal risk 

of the Club. The General Counsel reports regularly to the 

Board. External legal advice is sought where appropriate.

Governance culture
The Club remains committed to ensuring that all 

employees are appropriately inducted, trained and 

supported, as required, to ensure that corporate 

governance becomes second nature in all activities 

undertaken by the Club.

Corporate Governance ›

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises 

the Honorary Treasurer (as Chair) and two other Directors. 

This committee meets on at least three occasions 

throughout the year and on further occasions as the 

need arises.

The committee meets with, and receives regular reports 

from, the Club’s auditors and management. The committee 

presents its findings and makes recommendations to 

the Board.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee operates 

in accordance with its terms of reference. Its main 

responsibilities include the following:

•  Reviewing the Financial Statements to determine 

whether they are complete and consistent with 

the information known to the Board and to assess 

whether the Financial Statements reflect appropriate 

accounting policies

•  Gaining an understanding of the areas of greatest 

risk and the risk management framework adopted 

by management to manage those risks

•  Discussing with external auditors any issues and 

making recommendations arising from the audit

•  Selection, evaluation and compensation of the 

external auditor.

Internal audit
The Club is currently reviewing its internal audit program. 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible 

for ensuring that an adequate internal audit program 

is in place, including relevant controls, and for reviewing 

the findings from the resulting audit work.

Codes of Conduct
The Club has developed codes of conduct for Directors

and for employees.

The codes of conduct require both Directors and 

employees to maintain the highest standards of 

professionalism and lawful and ethical behaviour.
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Director’s Report

Victoria Racing Club Limited (‘the Club’) became a 
registered company under the Corporations Act 2001  
on 10 April 2006.

The Directors of the Club submit herewith the annual 
financial report of the Club for the financial year ended  
31 July 2010. In order to comply with the provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

The names of the Directors of the Club during or since  
the end of the financial year are as follows. Directors’ 
particulars and profiles can be viewed in the Annual 
Report on pages 8 to 9.

R M Fitzroy P T Leeds T Poole
M S Burn Mrs A M Elliott D G Monteith
P J Fekete P C Barnett Miss K L Bourke

Company Secretary
Dale Monteith, Chief Executive Officer.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Club during the year were 
the conduct of race meetings and the provision of training 
facilities for horses stabled and trained at Flemington.

Review of operations
The profit for the year ended 31 July 2010 was $4.3 million 
compared with a profit of $1.98 million for the prior year. 
Significant matters impacting the result were as follows:
•   Wagering related distributions of $27.7 million were 

received for the year, which is an increase of $0.6 million 
on the prior year

•   Revenues from racing activities decreased by $1.5 million 
as a direct result of reduced Corporate Hospitality 
attributed to the Global Financial Crisis

•   Increased revenues of $0.75 million arising from the three 
music festivals held at Flemington

•   Interest costs of $1.43 million were expensed for the year 
compared with $2.04 million for the prior year.

The following items were recognised directly in equity 
during the year: 
•   Freehold land was independently valued at 31 July 2010, 

resulting in an increase of $0.16 million 
•  The Club’s investment in Sport 927 was written down  

by $1.29 million
•   A cash flow hedge gain of $0.56 million was recognised 

relating to the Club’s interest rate hedging that has  
been in place since April 2008 

•   An actuarial gain of $0.2 million on the Club’s defined 
benefit superannuation plan was recognised following  
an actuarial review of the plan’s financial position.

The Club has achieved an excellent operating result by 
reducing discretionary expenditure and implementing  
cost containment strategies during a period of difficult 
market conditions. This strong financial result, combined  
with a reduction in the Club’s debt, puts the Club in  
a strong financial position as the next phase of capital 
development arising from the Flemington Masterplan  
2025 is set to begin.

Changes in state of affairs
During the financial year, there was no significant  
change in the state of affairs of the Club than that  
referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring 
subsequent to the end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the 
operations of the Club, the results of those operations  
or the state of affairs of the Club in future financial years.

Future developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments  
in the operations of the Club in future financial years  
and the expected results of those operations is likely  
to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Club. 
Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed  
in this Report.

Indemnification of officers and auditors
During the financial year, the Club paid a premium  
in respect of a contract insuring the Directors, officers  
and employees of the Club against a liability incurred  
as such a Director, officer or employee to the extent  
of all losses which the Club becomes legally obligated  
to pay on account of any claim. The Club has not otherwise, 
during or since the financial year, except to the extent 
permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify  
an auditor of the Club against a liability incurred  
as such an auditor.

Dividends
Under the Club’s constitution, no dividends may  
be declared or paid.
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Independence Declaration

Directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ 
meetings and meetings of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee held during the financial year and the number 
of meetings attended by each Director (while they were  
a Director). During the financial year, eleven Board meetings 
and three Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held.

Board of  
Directors

Audit and Risk 
Management 

Committee
Directors held att’d held att’d

Rod Fitzroy 11 9 – –

Peter Barnett* 11 8 3 1

Peter Fekete 11 11 3 3

Paul Leeds 11 10 – –

Amanda Elliott 11 10 – –

Michael Burn 11 11 3 3

Katherine Bourke 11 10 – –

Tim Poole* 11 10 3 1

Dale Monteith 11 11 3 3

*  Mr Poole replaced Mr Barnett as a member of the Audit  
and Risk Management Committee during the year.

Auditor
The firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office as 
the Club’s auditor. The auditor’s Independence Declaration 
is included in the Financial Statements on page 37.

Rounding of amounts
The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class 
Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with 
that Class Order amounts in the Directors’ Report and the 
financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made 
pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
On behalf of the Directors,

Rodney M Fitzroy Director 
Melbourne, 22nd October 2010

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
550 Bourke Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
GPO Box 78B 
Melbourne VIC 3001 
Australia 
DX 111 
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au

In accordance with Section 307C of the Corporations  
Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following  
declaration of independence to the Directors  
of Victoria Racing Club Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial 
statements of Victoria Racing Club Limited for  
the financial year ended 31 July 2010, I declare that  
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have  
been no contraventions of:
(i)  the auditor independence requirements  

of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation  
to the audit; and

(ii)  any applicable code of professional conduct  
in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Tony Brain Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 22nd October 2010
Liability limited by a scheme approved  
under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the Members of Victoria Racing Club Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial report  
of Victoria Racing Club Limited, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 31 July 2010, and  
the statement of comprehensive income, the statement  
of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity  
for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and other 
explanatory information, and the Directors’ declaration  
as set out on pages 39 to 55.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report  
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)  
and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal control relevant  
to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the  
financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
These Auditing Standards require that we comply  
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to  
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial  
report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain  
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures  
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend  
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment  
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those  
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation  
of the financial report in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for  
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  
audit opinion.

Auditor’s independence declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion the financial report of Victoria Racing  
Club Limited is in accordance with the Corporations  
Act 2001, including:
(a)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial 

position as at 31 July 2010 and of its performance for 
the year ended on that date; and

(b)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Tony Brain Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 22nd October 2010

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
550 Bourke Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
GPO Box 78B 
Melbourne VIC 3001 
Australia 
DX 111 
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au
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 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

  2010 2009 
 Notes $000 $000

Revenue
Thoroughbred Racing Industry Distributions 3(l) 27,697 27,070

Betting Levies and Commissions  4,179 4,691

Acceptance Fees  3,423 3,579

Members’ Subscriptions and Entrance Fees  14,046 13,612

Admissions  12,153 12,633

Catering and Raceday Dining  38,249 40,318

Sponsorships and Broadcast Rights  16,852 17,807

Other Raceday Revenue  4,738 2,038

Racecourse  3,722 3,151

Interest on Cash and Cash Equivalents  189 154

Gaming and Functions  13,463 13,485

Net Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets  4 –

Share of Net Profits of Associates and Jointly Controlled  
Entities Accounted for Using the Equity Method 3(c),12 615 752

Government Grants 3(q) 255 –

Other Revenue  1,160 588

Total Revenue  140,745 139,878

Expenditure
Returns to Owners:
– Prizemoney  35,565 35,882
– Other Payments and Subsidies  4 22

Catering and Raceday Dining  24,247 26,590

Sponsorships and Broadcast Rights  1,289 1,538

Other Raceday Expenditure  17,222 14,727

Racecourse Maintenance  14,771 14,043

Administration  6,999 7,432

Gaming and Functions  9,669 10,100

Information Technology  870 947

Marketing and Business Development  9,011 9,528

Membership  3,809 3,988

Occupancy  987 837

Finance Costs on Bank Bills and Loans Payable 8 1,426 2,042

Impairment of Fixed Assets  180 –

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 3(e) 10,389 10,217

Total Expenditure  136,438 137,893

Profit for the Year 5 4,307 1,985

Other comprehensive income
Net Value Loss on Available For Sale Financial Assets  (1,295) –

Net Value Gain/(Loss) on Cash Flow Hedges  561 (492)

Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Properties  164 (3,092)

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Defined Benefit Fund  161 (495)

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year  (409) (4,079)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  3,898 (2,094)

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.
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 Consolidated statement of financial position 
at 31 July 2010

  2010 2009 
 Notes $000 $000

Assets
Current Assets   
Cash and Cash Equivalents   6,599 4,598

Trade and Other Receivables 9 10,600 8,019

Inventories 3(b) 829 884

Prepayments  2,504 1,413

Total Current Assets  20,532 14,914

Non-current Assets   
Trade and Other Receivables 9 388 –

Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method 3(c),12 118 55

Other Financial Assets 10 7,231 8,526

Property, Plant and Equipment 3(e),(f),13 188,005 189,763

Other Intangible Assets 3(o),11 125 161

Total Non-current Assets  195,867 198,505

Total Assets  216,399 213,419

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables  14 9,327 6,296

Fees in Advance  24,535 19,489

Borrowings 15 44 41

Provisions 3(i),16 3,264 2,937

Total Current Liabilities  37,170 28,763

Non-current Liabilities   
Borrowings 15 16,042 23,586

Derivative Financial Liability  256 892

Provisions 3(i),16 2,456 3,601

Total Non-current Liabilities  18,754 28,079

Total Liabilities  55,924 56,842

Net Assets  160,475 156,577

Equity
Retained Earnings  5 103,702 99,234

Reserves 6 56,773 57,343

Total Equity  160,475 156,577

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.
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 Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 

 Properties Investments Cash flow   
 revaluation revaluation hedging  Retained 
 reserve reserve reserve earnings Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 August 2008  55,178   6,069   (320)   97,744   158,671 

Profit for the year – – –  1,985   1,985 

Other comprehensive income for the year  (3,092)  –  (492)   (495)   (4,079) 

Balance as at 31 July 2009  52,086   6,069   (812)   99,234   156,577 

Profit for the year – – – 4,307 4,307 

Other comprehensive income for the year 164 (1,295)  561  161 (409)

Balance as at 31 July 2010  52,250  4,774  (251)   103,702 160,475

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.
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 Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

  2010 2009 
 Notes $000 $000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from Racing Industry Distributions   30,327 30,174

Receipts from Members  15,604 15,432

Receipts from Racing Activities  91,555 86,756

Receipts from Gaming and Functions  14,799 14,963

Receipts from Racecourse  3,861 3,466

Receipts from Other Revenue  641 559

Payments for Prizemoney  (39,651) (40,104)

Payments for Racing Activities  (49,056) (47,828)

Payments for Racecourse Maintenance  (16,173) (16,090)

Payments for Administrative Costs  (6,586) (6,934)

Payments for Marketing and Business Development  (9,877) (10,541)

Payments for Information Technology  (970) (1,051)

Payments for Membership  (4,122) (4,427)

Payments for Occupancy  (1,100) (929)

Payments for Gaming and Functions  (10,779) (11,361)

Interest Received  189 154

Interest and Other Costs of Finance Paid  (1,502) (1,891)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 19(c) 17,160 10,348

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Payments for Buildings and Infrastructure  (651) (2,446)

Payments for Plant and Equipment  (3,102) (3,354)

Payments for Construction Work in Progress  (3,796) (585)

Payments for Intangible Assets  – (180)

Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  5 –

Distribution from Equity Accounted Investments  335 750

Payments for Investments  (450) (296)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (7,659) (6,111)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from Borrowings  1,000 –

Repayment of Borrowings  (8,500) (3,000)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities  (7,500) (3,000)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,001 1,237

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Financial Year  4,598 3,361

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Financial Year 19(a) 6,599 4,598

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.
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 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

1. General information
The Victoria Racing Club Limited’s principal place  
of business and registered office is 448 Epsom Road, 
Flemington 3031, tel (03) 8378 0888.

Victoria Racing Club Limited (‘the Club’) is a public 
company limited by guarantee, incorporated and 
operating in Australia.

If the Club is wound up, the Constitution states that  
each current member, and each person who ceased 
membership within the preceding 12 months, is required  
to contribute a maximum of $10 towards meeting  
any outstanding obligations of the Club. At 31 July 2010,  
the number of members was 29,739 (2009: 29,002).

2. Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
In the current year, the Club has adopted all of the new 
and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that  
are relevant to its operations and effective for the current 
annual reporting period. The adoption of these new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations has not resulted  
in changes to the Club’s accounting policies for the current  
or prior years.

The Club has elected to apply the following 
pronouncements to the annual reporting period 
beginning 1 July 2009:
•  AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian  

Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments  
to Australian Accounting standards from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements.

The adoption of AASB 1053 and AASB 2010-2 allowed  
the Club to remove a number of disclosures that had  
been previously required.

3. Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards-Reduced Disclosure Requirements as issued  
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Financial Statements were authorised for issue  
by the Directors on 22nd October 2010.

Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis  
of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain 
non-current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based 
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange  
for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, 
unless otherwise noted.

The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC  
Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance 
with that Class Order amounts in the financial report  
are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated.

The following significant accounting policies have been 
adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
Financial Report.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.  
Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash  
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes  
in value and have a maturity of three months or less at  
the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

(b) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on 
hand by the method most appropriate to each particular 
class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first 
in first out basis. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

(c) Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
The investments in ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd and 3UZ Sport 
927 held by the Club are classified as being available for  
sale and are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the 
investments revaluation reserve with the exception  
of impairment losses, which are recognised directly  
in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed  
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative  
gain or loss previously recognised in the investments 
revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for  
the period.

Available for sale financial assets are carried at Directors’ 
valuation. The Club has adopted a formal policy of 
obtaining an independent valuation for available for  
sale assets at least every two years. The independent 
valuations are used to assist Directors in assessing the  
fair value of available for sale assets.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in  
an active market are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair  
value, net of transaction costs. Loans and receivables  
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using  
the effective interest method less impairment.

Investments in associates
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment in associates 
are accounted for under the equity method in the Club 
Financial Statements. The investments in the Australian 
Prices Network and Thoroughbred Racing Production (Vic) 
Pty Ltd are accounted for under the equity method.

Jointly controlled entities
Interests in jointly controlled entities in which the Club  
is a venturer (and so has joint control) are accounted  
for under the equity method. The investments in the 
Australian Stud Book and the Australian Genetics Testing 
Pty Ltd are accounted for under the equity method.
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 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

3. Significant accounting policies ›
(d) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including trade and other 
payables and borrowings, are initially measured at fair 
value, net of transaction costs. Trade and other payables 
are recognised when the Club becomes obliged to  
make payments resulting from the purchase of goods  
and services.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured  
at amortised cost using the effective interest method,  
with interest expense recognised on an effective  
yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land is measured at fair value. Fair value 
is determined on the basis of an annual independent 
valuation prepared by external valuation experts based  
on an analysis of the size and position of the land, and of 
sales of land within close proximity over the last number 
of years. Fair values are recognised in the financial 
statements and are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period to ensure that the carrying values of freehold  
land are not materially different from their fair values.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation  
of land is credited to a revaluation reserve, except to  
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for  
the same asset previously recognised as an expense  
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited  
to the income statement to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount arising 
on the revaluation of land is charged as an expense  
in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance,  
if any, held in the revaluation reserve relating to a previous 
revaluation of that asset.

Plant and equipment and buildings are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the item. In the event that settlement of all or part of  
the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined  
by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their 
present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment, 
including buildings and infrastructure, but excluding 
construction work in progress, and is calculated on  
a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost of each 
asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual 
value. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
recognised on a prospective basis.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the 
calculation of depreciation.
•   Buildings and Infrastructure – 25 to 40 years
•   Plant and Equipment and Furniture and Fittings –  

3 to 10 years

(f) Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms  
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at 
their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined 
at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability  
to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance 
lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve  
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance  
of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against 
income, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance  
with the Club’s general policy on borrowing costs. Refer to 
Note 3(h). Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight 
line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.

(g) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets  
excluding goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Club reviews  
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible  
assets to determine whether there is any indication  
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount  
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent  
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible  
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual  
asset the Club estimates the recoverable amount  
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and 
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested  
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there  
is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less  
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,  
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using the pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3. Significant accounting policies ›
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,  
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)  
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment  
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless  
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,  
in which case the impairment loss is treated  
as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,  
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)  
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount  
does not exceed the carrying amount that would  
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised  
in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset  
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(h) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which  
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period  
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,  
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time  
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended  
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from  
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit  
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Club has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past  
event, it is probable that the Club will be required  
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can  
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best  
estimate of the consideration required to settle  
the present obligation at the end of the reporting  
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is  
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle  
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the  
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(j) Employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees 
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave when it is probable that settlement will be 
required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee 
benefits, are measured at their nominal values using  
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time  
of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of long-term  
employee benefits are measured as the present value  
of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by  
the Club in respect of services provided by employees  
up to reporting date.

Defined benefit plans
For defined benefit superannuation plans, the cost of 
providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit 
Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out 
at the end of each reporting period. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognised in full directly in retained earnings  
in the period in which they occur, and are presented  
in the statement of recognised income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent 
that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is 
amortised on a straight line basis over the average period 
until the benefits become vested.

The defined benefit obligation recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position represents 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation, 
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, net of  
the fair value of the plan assets.

(k) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for sale of goods and services.

Sale of goods and services
Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised 
when all of the following conditions are satisfied:
•  The Club has transferred to the buyer the significant  

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods or service
•  The Club retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold  
or service provided

•  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably
•  It is probable that the economic benefits associated  

with the transaction will flow to the entity
•  The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect  

of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that  
the economic benefits will flow to the club and that the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference  
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.

Victoria Racing Club 
Annual Report 2010

45



 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

3. Significant accounting policies ›
(l) Thoroughbred Racing Industry distributions
The Club received distributions of $27.7 million (2009:  
$27.07 million) and these represent the amount received  
and receivable in respect to the year ended 31 July 2010,  
net of industry adjustments. Included in this total  
is the amount of $2.066 million (2009: $2.066 million) 
representing contributions made to the Club by  
Racing Victoria Limited to fund, in part or wholly,  
capital developments at Flemington Racecourse.

(m) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net  
of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except:
(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 

from the taxation authority, it is recognised  
as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset  
or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables that are recognised 
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable  
to the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables.

Cash flows are included in the consolidated statement  
of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which 
is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority  
is classified as operating cash flows.

(n) Derivative financial instruments
The Club has entered into an interest rate swap  
to manage its exposure to interest rate risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at  
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each 
reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised  
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative  
is designated and effective as a hedging instrument,  
in which event, the timing of the recognition in profit  
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

The Club designated the interest rate swap as a hedge  
of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedge).

The fair value of a hedging derivative is presented  
as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if  
the remaining maturity of the instrument is more  
than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised  
or settled within 12 months.

Hedge accounting
The Club designated the interest rate swap as  
a cash flow hedge.

At the inception of the hedge relationship the Club 
documented the relationship between the hedging 
instrument and hedged item, along with its risk 
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 
the hedge transaction. Furthermore, at the inception of  
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Club documents 
whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging 
relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes  
in cash flows of the hedged item.

Movements in the hedging reserve in equity are detailed  
in Note 6.

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of change in the fair value of the 
derivative that is designated and qualifies as a cash  
flow hedge is deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating  
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately  
in profit or loss as part of other expenses or other income.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or  
loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised  
in profit or loss in the same line of the income statement  
as the recognised hedged item. However, when the forecast 
transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of  
a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains 
and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the initial measurement  
of the cost of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Club revokes 
the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies 
for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred 
in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised 
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised  
in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that  
was deferred in equity is recognised immediately  
in profit or loss.

(o) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at  
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 
Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over  
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life 
and amortisation method is reviewed at the end  
of each annual reporting period, with any changes  
in these accounting estimates being accounted for  
on a prospective basis.

(p) Comparative amounts
Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative 
amounts have been adjusted to conform to changes  
in presentation for the current financial year.

(q) Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is 
a reasonable assurance that the Club will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants  
will be received.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources  
of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Club’s accounting policies,  
which are described in Note 3, management is required  
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates  
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Management uses their judgement in selecting the  
most appropriate valuation technique in deriving fair 
value. For available for sale assets as noted in Note 10  
a combination of commonly used valuation techniques 
are applied.
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5. Retained earnings
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Balance at 1 August 99,234 97,744

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plan 161 (495)

Net profit 4,307 1,985

Balance at 31 July 103,702 99,234

6. Reserves
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Investment revaluation 4,774 6,069

Properties revaluation 52,250 52,086

Cash flow hedging reserve (251) (812)

Balance at 31 July 56,773 57,343

Investment revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 August 6,069 6,069

Valuation loss recognised (1,295) –

Balance at 31 July 4,774 6,069

The investment revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale financial 
assets. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the reserve which relates to  
that financial asset, and is effectively realised, is recognised in profit or loss. Where a revalued  
financial asset is impaired, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset  
is recognised in profit or loss.

Properties revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 August 52,086 55,178

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 164 (3,092)

Transferred to retained earnings – –

Balance at 31 July 52,250 52,086

The properties revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land. Where revalued  
land is sold, that portion of the properties revaluation reserve which relates to that  
asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred directly to retained earnings. 

Cash flow hedging reserve
Balance at 1 August – interest rate swap (812) (320)

Gain/(Loss) recognised on cash flow hedges 636 (543)

Transferred to profit or loss – Interest (expense)/income (75) 51

Balance at 31 July (251) (812)

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative portion of gains and losses 
on hedging instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred  
gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction  
impacts the profit or loss.
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 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

7. Income tax
The Club is exempt from income tax under section 50–45SS9.1(a) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (as amended).

8. Finance costs
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Interest on commercial bills 1,593 2,055

Interest on obligations under finance lease 9 12

Less amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets (101) (76)

 1,501 1,991

Fair value (profit)/loss on interest rate swap designated  
as a cash flow hedge transferred from equity (75) 51

Total 1,426 2,042

9. Trade and other receivables at amortised cost
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Wagering distribution 489 362

TVN rights fees 2,296 2,296

TVN loan (i) 500 500

Australian Genetics Testing 388 –

Tabaret receivables 101 77

Trade receivables (ii) 5,195 3,896

Insurance claim 587 –

Other receivables 1,432 888

Total 10,988 8,019

(i) The loan receivable from TVN is at call on agreement of all shareholders.
(ii)  The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables.

10. Other financial assets
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Available for sale investments at fair value:
Non-current  

ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd (i) 5,625 5,625

3UZ Sport 927 (ii) 1,551 2,846

 7,176 8,471

Investments carried at amortised cost:
Non-current  

Bank term deposits 55 55

 7,231 8,526

(i)  ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd 
At 31 July 2010, the Club held a 12.5% (2009: 12.5%) shareholding in ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd (TVN). An independent valuation was obtained to 
provide the Directors with a basis for assessing the fair value at 31 July 2010. Based on all relevant and known financial information and with 
the utilisation of a discounted cash flow earnings model, the Club has valued its 12.5% shareholding at $5.625 million (2009: $5.625 million).

(ii)  3UZ Sport 927 
At 31 July 2010, the Club held a 14.23% (2009: 14.23%) shareholding in 3UZ Sport 927. An independent valuation was obtained to provide  
the Directors with a basis for assessing the fair value at 31 July 2010. Based on a combination of factors, which included market values  
of assets and licences held and analysis of direct and indirect benefits accruing to the Racing Industry as a result of ownership of the 
radio station, the Club has valued its 14.23% shareholding at $1.55 million (2009: $2.846 million).
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11. Other intangible assets
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Cost 180 180

Accumulated amortisation 55 19

 125 161

  Water  
  rights 
Cost  $000

Balance at 1 August 2008  –

Additions  180

Impairment  –

Disposals  –

Balance at 31 July 2009  180

Additions  –

Impairment  –

Disposals  –

Balance at 31 July 2010  180

Accumulated amortisation  
Balance at 1 August 2008  –

Amortisation expense  19

Impairment  –

Disposals  –

Balance at 31 July 2009  19

Amortisation expense  36

Impairment  –

Disposals  –

Balance at 31 July 2010  55

In 2009, the Club acquired the right, for a period of five years, to utilise additional annual quantities of potable water.

12. Investments accounted for using the equity method
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Investments in associates 116 53

Investments in jointly controlled entities 2 2

 118 55

Ownership interest
  Country of 2010 2009 
Name of entity Principal activity incorporation % %

Australian Prices Network Distribution of betting price fluctuations Australia 16.7 16.7

Thoroughbred Racing  
Production (Vic) Pty Ltd  Production of oncourse racing vision Australia 25.0 25.0

Jointly controlled entity
Australian Stud Book Maintenance of breeding register Australia 50.0 50.0

Australian Genetics  
Testing Pty Ltd DNA screening of research animals Australia 50.0 50.0

The Club acquired a 50% shareholding in the new company Australian Genetics Testing Pty Ltd in July 2009.  
The company commenced trading on 1 August 2009.
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 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

12. Investments accounted for using the equity method ›
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Summarised financial information of associates
Share of net assets (16)  (1)

Share of associates’ profit (i) 34 107

(i) Included in share of associates’ profit is a share of the net loss of Thoroughbred Racing Production (Vic) Pty Ltd.

Summarised financial information of jointly controlled entities
Share of net assets (177) 2

Share of jointly controlled entities profit 324 627

13. Property, plant and equipment
   Buildings and Plant and Assets under 
 Freehold land Construction infrastructure equipment finance lease  
 at fair value  W.I.P. at cost at cost at cost at cost Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Gross carrying amount      
Balance at 1 August 2008 61,618 1,457 117,072 115,591 197 295,935

Additions – 585 2,446 4,833 – 7,864

Transfers – (1,450)  – – – (1,450)

Net revaluation decrements (3,092) – – – – (3,092)

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – – – –

Balance at 1 August 2009 58,526 592 119,518 120,424 197 299,257

Additions 254 4,186 651 3,858 – 8,949

Transfers – (337) – – – (337)

Net revaluation increments  164 – – – – 164

Impairment – – – (195) – (195)

Disposals – – – (152) – (152)

Balance at 31 July 2010 58,944 4,441 120,169 123,935 197 307,686

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment    
Balance at 1 August 2008 – – 48,217 51,043 36 99,296

Depreciation expense – – 4,828 5,328 42 10,198

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – – – 

Balance at 1 August 2009 – – 53,045 56,371 78 109,494

Depreciation expense – – 4,953 5,358 41 10,352

Disposals – – – (165) – (165)

Balance at 31 July 2010 – – 57,998 61,564 119 119,681

Net book value      
As at 31 July 2009 58,526 592 66,473 64,053 119  189,763

As at 31 July 2010  58,944 4,441 62,171 62,371 78 188,005

Freehold land carried at fair value.
An independent valuation of the Club’s freehold land was performed by PPE valuers to determine the fair value of the land. 
The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to similar sales of real estate 
in the local and surrounding areas and with regard to the size, shape and topography of the individual parcels of land. 
The effective date of the valuation is 19 July 2010 (2009: 31 July 2009).
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14. Trade and other payables at amortised cost
 2010 2009
 $000 $000

Current  
Race meeting payables 463 89

Information technology payables 700 –

Payables for assets 818 86

Trade payables (i) 2,529 3,149

Racing Victoria Limited (ii) – 250

Other payables 3,929 2,534

Racecourse maintenance payables 888 188

 9,327 6,296

(i) The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables.
(ii) The payable to Racing Victoria Limited is payable at $0.25 million per annum is interest bearing and will be fully repaid by 31 July 2010.

15. Borrowings
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Unsecured – at amortised cost
Current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 44 41

Commercial bills (ii) – –

Subtotal 44 41

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 42 86

Commercial bills (ii) 15,000 23,500

Loan 1,000 –

Subtotal 16,042 23,586

Total 16,086 23,627

(i) Secured by assets leased.
(ii)  The Club’s commercial bill facility is for a two year term and expires in July 2012. 

16. Provisions
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Current
Employee benefits 3,264 2,937

Non-current
Employee benefits 2,456 3,601

 5,720 6,538

The employee benefits expense for the year was $0.33 million (2009: $0.18 million). The expense has been included in  
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in expenditure for Administration and Racecourse Maintenance.
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 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

17. Leases
Finance leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the purchase of motor vehicles and equipment with lease terms of up to four years 
remaining. At the conclusion of the term and final payment, full ownership is transferred to the Club.

Minimum future
lease payments

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Finance lease liabilities $000 $000 $000 $000

– not later than 1 year 50 50 47 47

– later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 44 94 38 80

Included in the Financial Statements as: (Note 15)
– Current borrowings   44 41

– Non-current borrowings   42 86

   86 127

Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.

Operating leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the rental of motor vehicles with lease terms of between 3 to 5 years. On conclusion of the 
term, there are no options to extend or purchase.
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments  
Not longer than 1 year 155 164

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 216 124

 371 288

18. Defined benefit superannuation fund
A significant number of employees of the Club are members of the Victorian Racing Industry Superannuation Fund  
(the sub-plan) of AMP Signature Super. The sub-plan has a combination of defined benefit and accumulation membership.  
The following information relates to the defined benefit membership. The defined benefit segment of the sub-plan  
is closed to new members.

The defined benefit members are entitled to retirement benefits based on a multiple of their deemed final salary  
upon attainment of a retirement age of 60. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

The defined benefit superannuation segment is a funded segment of the sub-plan. The net deficit determined  
in the sub-plan’s most recent financial report, for the year ended 31 July 2010, was $2.147 million (2009: $3.185 million).

The Club has a legal liability to make up a deficit in the defined benefit segment of the sub-plan, but no direct legal  
right to withdraw any surplus from the sub-plan.
 2010 2009 
 % %

Key assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuation  
were as follows (expressed as weighted averages):  
Discount rate gross of tax 5.2 5.6

Discount rate net of tax 4.4 4.8

Expected return on plan assets 7.0 7.0

Expected rate of salary increase 4.5 4.5
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18. Defined benefit superannuation fund ›
Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows:
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

Expense recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 494 483

Actuarial (gains)/losses incurred during the year and recognised in the  
statement of recognised income and expense (161) 495

Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense (81) 79

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Club’s obligations  
in respect of its defined benefit sub-plan is as follows:  
Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 11,507 13,157

Fair value of plan assets at end of year (9,360) (9,972)

Net liability arising from defined benefit 2,147 3,185

Defined benefit obligation at end of year 11,507 13,157

Movements in the present value of the plan assets in the current period were as follows:  
Opening fair value of plan assets  9,972 10,690

Employer contributions 1,370 1,131

Member contributions 168 204

Benefits paid (2,869) (605)

Closing fair value of plan assets 9,360 9,972

The analysis of the plan assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Expected return Fair value of plan assets
 2010  2009 2010 2009 
 % % $000 $000

Equity instruments 7.75 7.75 5,569 5,834

Debt instruments 5.5 5.5 2,387 2,493

Property 7.0 7.0 515 798

Other 7.0 7.0 889 847

Weighted average expected return 7.0 7.0 9,360 9,972

The actual return on plan assets was $0.72 million (2009: ($1.45) million).
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 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
 of the Victoria Racing Club Limited 
for the year ended 31 July 2010

19. Notes to the statement of cash flows
 2010 2009 
 $000 $000

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost 6,599  4,598

(b) Financing facilities  
Unsecured commercial bill facility  
Amount used 15,000 23,500

Amount unused 17,500 11,500

 32,500 35,000

Unsecured bank overdraft facility  
Amount used – –

Amount unused 2,000 2,000

 2,000 2,000

Unsecured leasing facility  
Amount used 197 197

Amount unused 1,103 1,103

 1,300 1,300

(c) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 4,307 1,985

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10,389 10,217

Impairment of non-current assets 180 –

Non-cash acquisition of assets (254) –

Share of profits in associated entities not received as dividends or distributions (615) (752)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (4) –

Non-cash fair value (gain)/loss on interest rate swap (75) 51

Non-cash movements in defined benefit superannuation expense (876) (648)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities  
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (3,778) 2,041

Decrease in inventories 55 773

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 2,440 (507)

Increase/(Decrease) in fees in advance 5,061 (2,993)

Increase in employee benefit provisions 330 181

 17,160 10,348

20. Auditors’ remuneration
 2010 2009 
 $ $

Auditors of Victoria Racing Club Limited  
– Audit of the financial report 114,000 110,575
– Other services – 13,000

21. Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel of the Club include the Chief Executive Officer along with the eleven direct reports and 
members of the Board. The compensation of the key management personnel is set out below and includes remuneration 
and allowances, payments for accrued annual and long service leave and post employment benefits in the form of 
superannuation. Directors of the Board are not remunerated by the Club, however, do receive certain reimbursements  
and travel allowances for costs incurred while fulfilling their role as a Director.
 2010 2009 
 $ $

 3,466,125 2,834,901
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22. Capital commitments
The Club has capital commitments for capital expenditure 
on qualifying assets at 31 July 2010 of $2.22 million  
(2009: $0.59 million). 

23. Contingent liabilities
The Club has guaranteed the obligations of Thoroughbred 
Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd in respect of loans provided 
by Australia and New Zealand Banking Group for the 
amount not exceeding $2.79 million (2009: $2.18 million).

24. Related parties
The following parties are considered to be related parties 
to the Club:

Members of the Board who held office in the year ended  
31 July 2010 (as detailed on pages 8 to 9 of this Report).

All Members of the Board act in an honorary capacity  
and receive no remuneration for their services; however,  
do receive certain reimbursements and compensation  
for cost incurred while fulfilling their role as a Director. 
Certain Members of the Board participate in the 
Thoroughbred Racing Industry via means of ownership  
of racehorses either individually or through related 
entities. This involvement is on terms and conditions  
no more favourable than other participants in the 
Thoroughbred Racing Industry.

Key management personnel includes the Chief Executive 
Officer and the eleven direct reports and members of  
the Board. During the year a total of $2.62 million (2009: 
$2.08 million) was paid or reimbursed to these key 
management personnel for the services provided  
to the Club.

The Club paid Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance  
on behalf of the Board and Officers of the Club.

The Club indemnifies each officer of the Club against  
any liability that may be instituted against them or any  
of them in the exercise of their office or performance  
of their duties.

The Club has not otherwise, during or since the financial 
year indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or 
auditor of the Club or any related organisation against 
liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

All other material transactions and balances with related 
parties have been disclosed in this Report.

25. Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring 
subsequent to the end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the 
operations of the Club, the results of those operations,  
or the state of affairs of the Club in future financial years.

Directors’ declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a)  In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds 

to believe that the Club will be able to pay its debts  
as and when they become due and payable.

(b)  In the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial 
statements and notes thereto are in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with 
Accounting Standards and giving a true and fair view 
of the financial position and performance of the Club.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
made pursuant to Section 295 (5) of the Corporations  
Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P J Fekete Director

D G Monteith Chief Executive 
Melbourne, 22nd October 2010
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Statistical Summary

 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06

Racing     
Race Meetings 24 24 25 30 32

Saturdays and Public Holidays 21 22 20 19 19

Sundays 3 0 0 1 2

Mid-Weeks 0 2 5 10 11

Races 199 202 208 244 266

Starters 2,263 2,333 2,414 2,629 2,981

Average Starters per Race 11.4 11.5 11.6 10.8 11.2

Attendances
Annual  553,340 572,054 566,379 539,058 563,862

Melbourne Cup Day 102,161 107,280 102,411 106,691 106,479

Melbourne Cup Carnival 368,929 396,046 397,413 418,069 383,784

Membership
Members – All Categories 29,739 29,002 28,489 27,541 26,170

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Prizemoney 35,565 35,882 35,031 34,896 34,633

Betting Turnover
Oncourse Totalisator  58,969 61,304 59,085 58,142 58,320

Bookmakers 105,650 174,025 138,989 148,724 168,474

Offcourse Totalisator 442,527 469,555 397,600 421,845 420,954

Total Turnover 607,146 704,884 595,674 628,711 647,748

Financial Information     
Net Surplus/(Loss)  4,307 1,985 (2,217) 2,652 909

Wagering Distribution 27,697 27,070 26,767 28,977 25,538

Capital Expenditure on  
New Buildings and Property,  
Plant and Equipment 8,949 8,073 37,289 52,739 38,448

Performance     
Total Revenue (excl. Wagering Distribution)  113,048 112,808 104,811 87,549 83,881

Average Entrance Revenue $21.96 $22.08 $19.13 $20.86 $17.50

Sponsorship as to Prizemoney 25.9% 27.01% 26.95% 23.39% 21.60%

Returns to Owners as to Distribution 128.42% 132.63% 130.87% 120.40% 135.60%

Note: The above five-year statistical summary relates to the Racing Seasons 1 August to 31 July.
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Photography: Photographs are courtesy of Bryce Dunkley, 
SDP Photo and Warren Woolcock.

Paper: This annual report is printed entirely on paper 
certified by the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) to be 
sourced from responsibly managed plantation forests.  
The cover, printed on Knight Smooth, is made without  
the use of harmful elemental chlorine, while the text, 
printed on HannoArt, is produced as a totally chlorine  
free paper and is manufactured under the world’s best 
practice ISO14001 Environmental Management System.

During the course of the year, the following were lost  
to the racing industry and the VRC, and we extend our 
condolences to their families.

Esteemed former Chairman, Mr PCT Armytage AM

Mr William (Bill) Stutt Mr Ned Wallish 
Mr Jack Denham Mr George Hanlon 
Mr Les Short Mrs Jacquie Little 
Mr Kevin Blackmore Mr Bart Godwin

Mission
Through our people we will:
•  Continually develop as a world class racing  

and entertainment venue all year round
•  Focus on the continued growth and success  

of the Melbourne Cup Carnival
•  Provide the highest quality service, facilities and value  

for our Members, customers, partners and the community
•  Balance our commitment to environmental sustainability 

and the local community with our operations
•  Maximise financial returns from our racing and events 

for the benefit of the Club, its Members, the racing 
industry and partners.

Values
Integrity: Acting with integrity in all that we do

Innovation: Encouraging and embracing innovation  
to achieve continuous improvement

Excellence: Setting the highest standards in service and 
value for our Members, customers and business partners

Collaboration: Valuing and respecting the commitment 
and contribution of all of our people and expecting 
collaboration across our teams

Safety and Sustainability: Providing a safe and 
environmentally friendly workplace, and venue  
for our people, customers and industry participants

Our vision is to maintain  
Flemington as a world  
leader in thoroughbred  
racing, event management  
and entertainment 
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